
Board of Trustees Regular Meeting #2022-22 
Tuesday, December 13, 2022 at 7:30 PM 

 

1. Roll Call 

2. Pledge of Allegiance 
 

3. Public Comments 
 
4. Conflict of Interest 

5. Approval of regular meeting minutes #2022-21 dated November 22, 2022 
 

6. New Business by Village Trustees 
 
7. Village Manager’s Report 
 
8. Consent Agenda 

 
All items on the consent agenda are routine and brought forward at the direction of the Board 
of Trustees, Village Manager, or Village Committees and will be enacted with one motion. If 
discussion is desired, that item will be removed from the consent agenda and considered 
separately. 

A. Request Board of Trustees approval of the Traffic and Safety Committee’s recommendation 
to amend the existing parking signage on the north side of 96th street between Tulley and 
51st Ave., along with the west side of 51st Ave from 96th street to the cul-da-sac for the 
specific use of the residents of the multi-family building at 5100 W. 96th street; George 
Cachares, petitioner. 

 
B. Ordinance #22-22-66: An Ordinance approving certain traffic regulations (amend the 

existing parking signage on the east side of Tulley avenue, between 96th street and Museum 
Drive to provide 6 parking spaces dedicated for the sole use of the residents of the Arbor 
Court Condominium. 

 
C. Request Board of Trustees approval of the Zoning and Planning Commission’s 

recommendation (6-1) for a variation for the approval for a pole sign at 5600-5620 W 95th 
street in a C-2 (General Service) zoning district; Peter Giadla, petitioner. 

 
D. Ordinance #22-22-67: An Ordinance granting a variation for the approval for a pole sign at 

5600-5620 West 95th street in a C-2 (general service) zoning district (Peter Giadla, 
petitioner). 

 
E. Request Board of Trustees approval of the Zoning and Planning Commission’s 

recommendation (5-2) for a Special Use Permit to allow a special event space in a C-3 
(regional shopping) zoned district at 8821 Ridgeland Ave; the Opulent Room, LLC., 
petitioner. 

 



F. Ordinance #22-22-68: An Ordinance granting a special use permit to allow a special event 
space in a C-3 (regional shopping) zoning district located at 8821 s. Ridgeland Avenue (The 
Opulent Room LLC, petitioner). 

 
G. Request Board of Trustees approval of the Appeals & Review Board’s recommendation (6-0) 

for a 1’ (one foot) fence height variation to allow a 7’ (seven foot) tall fence at 10421 S. 
Kedvale Avenue; Matthew and Sarah Malburg, petitioners. 

 
H. Ordinance #22-22-69: An Ordinance granting a 1’ fence variation to allow a 7’ tall fence at 

10421 Kedvale Avenue (Matthew and Sarah Malburg, petitioners). 
 
I. Request Board of Trustees approval of the Appeals & Review Board’s recommendation (4-1) 

for a 25’ (twenty-five foot) corner side yard variation at 5132 W. 101st street; Luis Correa Jr., 
petitioner. 

 
J. Ordinance #22-22-70: An Ordinance granting a 25’ corner side yard variation at 5123 West 

101st Street (Luis Correa Jr., petitioner). 
 

K. Ordinance #22-22-71: An Ordinance amending Title 9 Chapter 4 Article B entitled “Rates and 
Charges” of the Oak Lawn Village Code. (Village Manager) 

 
L. Ordinance #22-22-72: An Ordinance amending Title 9 Chapter 4 Article B entitled “Water 

Rates and Charges” of the Oak Lawn Village Code. (Village Manager) 
 
M. Ordinance #22-22-73: An Ordinance for the levy and assessment of taxes for the tax year 

2022 (collectible during the fiscal year beginning January 1, 2023, and ending December 31, 
2023) for the Village of Oak Lawn, County of Cook, State of Illinois. (Village Manager) 

 
N. Ordinance #22-22-74: An Ordinance authorizing abatement of the tax levy for general 

obligation bonds for the Village of Oak Lawn, Cook County, Illinois (Village Manager) 
 
O. Ordinance #22-22-75: An Ordinance adopting the 2023 Village of Oak Lawn Municipal 

Budget (Village Manager) 
 

P. Ordinance #22-22-76: An Ordinance of the Village of Oak Lawn, Cook County, Illinois 
increasing the 2022 budget amount for the police and fire pension funds. (Village Manager) 

 
Q. Resolution #22-22-71: A Resolution approving updated MABAS (mutual aid box alarm 

system) Agreement to maintain Village of Oak Lawn’s ability to receive mutual aid for large 
emergency incidents. (Village Manager) 

 
R. Resolution #22-22-72: A Resolution approving Christopher Burke Engineering for 

professional design and engineering services for the 2023 Street Program. (Village Manager) 
 
S. Resolution #22-22-73: A Resolution appointing Dan Greene as a replacement for Vernon 

Zumhagen to the Zoning and Planning Commission. (Village Manager) 
 



T. Resolution #22-22-74: A Resolution approving tree pruning and removal services for the 
year 2023 for the Village of Oak Lawn, Cook County, Illinois, by Smitty’s Tree Services, Inc. 
(Village Manager) 

 
U. Resolution #22-22-75: A Resolution approving the revised 457b investment policy for the 

Village of Oak lawn, Cook County, Illinois. (Village Manager) 
 

V. Request Board of Trustees approval for the appointment of Trustee Alex Olejniczak as Fire 
Department Liaison and Trustee Ralph Soch as Police Department Liaison. (Trustees 
Olejniczak and Soch) 

 
W. Request Board of Trustees approval for the cancellation the last regularly scheduled meeting 

of December, dated December 27, 2022.  
 

9. Appeal of an adverse decision by the Zoning and Planning Commission to allow for frame 
construction and brick veneer in the exterior wall of a new building in a C-2 district at 11040 S. 
Kilpatrick Ave; MG19 Salon Suites LTD., petitioner. 

10. Ordinance #22-22-77: An Ordinance granting petitioner, MG19 Salon Suites,  
LTD, appeal of the Zoning and Planning Commission’s denial of the allowance of frame 
construction and brick veneer in the exterior wall of new building in C-2 district located at 11040 
S. Kilpatrick, Oak Lawn, IL, and approval of the requested variances. 
 

11. Village Clerk’s Report 
 

A. Disbursement Resolution #2022-22D dated December 13, 2022. 

B. General Village Matters 
 

12. Village President’s Report 
 
A. Request the Board of Trustees approval of the Liquor & Tobacco Licensing Review Board’s 

recommendation (7-0) for a Class AV Liquor License for Arena Lanes, 4700 W 103rd street: 
William Brennan IV, petitioner. 

B. Ordinance #22-22-78: An Ordinance changing ownership of Class “AV” liquor license issued 
by the Village of Oak Lawn and decrease and increase of Class “AV” liquor licenses issued by 
the Village of Oak Lawn. (Arena Lanes) 

 
C. Request the Board of Trustees approval of the Liquor & Tobacco Licensing Review Board’s 

recommendation (7-0) for a change in ownership of a tobacco license for Good Luck Jerry, 
Inc. dba Famous Tobacco.  

 
D. Ordinance #22-22-79: An Ordinance changing ownership of a tobacco license issued by the 

Village of Oak Lawn (Good Luck Jerry d/b/a Famous Tobacco – 9600 S. Cicero Avenue, Oak 
Lawn, IL). 

 



E. Request the Board of Trustees approval of the Liquor & Tobacco Licensing Review Board’s 
recommendation (7-0) for a change in ownership of a tobacco license for Star One Tobacco 
at 4741 W. 103rd street.  

 
F. Ordinance #22-22-80: An Ordinance changing ownership of a tobacco license issued by the 

Village of Oak Lawn (Star One Tobacco- 4741 W. 103rd street, Oak Lawn, IL). 
 
G. General Village Matters 
 

13. Executive Session #2022-17 for the purpose of discussing 1) closed meeting minutes #2022-16 
dated November 22, 2022 and 2) a pending litigation. 
 

14. Adjournment 



Village of Oak Lawn, Illinois 
Municipal Center @ 9446 S Raymond Avenue 

President and Board of Trustees 
Regular Meeting #2022-21 

Tuesday, November 22, 2022 

1. Roll Call by Clerk Henning was taken 9:00am.

Village President:    Terry Vorderer 

Village Trustees:  Jamie Pembroke William “Bud” Stalker 
Paul Mallo Tim Desmond 
Alex G. Olejniczak Ralph Soch 

Mayor Vorderer announces that we have a quorum. 

Also Present:  
Village Manager: Thomas E. Phelan 
Assistant Village Manager: Jerry Dillon 
Police Chief:  Dan Vittorio 
Fire Chief: Zachary Riddle  
Director of Emergency Communications: Diana Tousignant 
Director of Public Works: Bill Meyer 
Property Management Manager: Gary Gudino 
Village Attorney: Paul O’Grady 

2. The Pledge of Allegiance

The pledge of allegiance was recited. 

3. Public Comments

There were no public comments. 

4. Conflict of Interest Disclosure

No conflicts were disclosed. 

5. Badge Presentation for Oak Lawn Police Department K9 Thor.

Chief Vittorio thanks the board for their support in bringing back a service dog into the police 
department. Thor is the Village’s ninth service dog. Thor and Officer Carroll, his handler, just finished six 
weeks of training and he is certified in patrol and narcotics detection.  

6. Approval of regular meeting minutes #2022-20 dated November 8, 2022.

Trustee Pembroke, seconded by Trustee Stalker, motioned to approve the regular meeting minutes. 

Agenda Item 5

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 5



Roll Call:  Trustee Pembroke- yes Trustee Stalker- yes 
Trustee Mallo- yes Trustee Desmond- yes 
Trustee Olejniczak- yes Trustee Soch- yes 

Motion passes 6-0-0. 

7. New Business by Village Trustees

Trustee Desmond, District 1, wishes the residents of Oak Lawn a Happy Thanksgiving. 

Trustee Olejniczak, District 2, updates that the Public Works Dept. is working quickly to complete road 
projects. They are slightly behind due to supply chain issues. He commends the police department and 
Chief Vittorio for having the wisdom to see that we need certain tools to be successful, all of which have 
helped solve crimes and deter criminals. Keep up the good work, along with our Fire Department, 
Dispatch and Public Works. He also wishes everyone a Happy Thanksgiving. 

Trustee Mallo, District 3, reminds residents that Santa on the Green is this Saturday, November 26, 2022 
from 11:30am-2:30pm on the Village Green. He also wishes residents, the board, and staff a Happy 
Thanksgiving.  

Trustee Pembroke, District 4, wishes residents a Happy Thanksgiving. 

Trustee Stalker, District 5, echoes the wishes for a Happy Thanksgiving. He thanks all the departments 
for their efforts to make Oak Lawn a great place to live.  

Trustee Soch, District 6, also wishes residents a Happy Thanksgiving. 

8. Village Manager’s Report

Manager Phelan explains that on Nov. 10, 2022 the first 2023 budget meeting was held. A few key 
points is the desire for the Board to keep a line on property taxes, due to the fear of inflation. This Board 
has asked management to minimize the impact of residents. Many of the Trustees have asked if it is 
possible to keep the line on property taxes and still put additional funds into the pension accounts, 
which makes sense to do while the market is down. Presently, we are on track to put an additional $1 
million dollars into the pension fund than required. There will have a second budget meeting in a few 
weeks and plan to approve the 2023 Budget at the December 13th Board meeting. 

9. Consent Agenda

All items on the consent agenda are routine and have been brought forward at the direction of the 
Board of Trustees, Village Manager, or Village Committees and will be enacted with one motion. If 
discussion is desired, that item will be removed from the consent agenda and considered separately. 

A. Resolution #22-21-62: A Resolution of the Village of Oak Lawn, Cook County, Illinois, appointing
David McCarthy to the Appeals and Review Board of the Village (Mayor Vorderer).

B. Resolution #22-21-63: A Resolution of the Village of Oak Lawn, Cook County, Illinois, appointing
Bill Egan to the Fire and Police Commission (Mayor Vorderer).

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 6



C. Resolution #22-21-64: A Resolution approving the purchase of new body worn cameras, tasers,
and squad car cameras for the Village of Oak Lawn, Cook County Illinois from Axon Enterprises,
Inc. (Village Manager)

D. Resolution #22-21-65: A Resolution approving the purchase of a sewer cleaner for the Village of
Oak Lawn, Cook County, Illinois, from Standard Equipment Company. (Village Manager)

E. Resolution #22-21-66: A Resolution approving the purchase of an asphalt reclaimer for the
Village of Oak Lawn, Cook County, Illinois from Monroe Truck Equipment, Inc. (Village Manager)

F. Resolution #22-21-67: A Resolution approving the purchase of a Ford F-250 truck with plow for
the Village of Oak Lawn, Cook County, Illinois from Hawk Ford of Oak Lawn. (Village Manager)

G. Resolution #22-21-68: A Resolution approving the purchase of a snow fighter truck and plow for
the Village of Oak Lawn, Cook County, Illinois, from Rush Truck Centers. (Village Manager)

H. Resolution #22-21-69: A Resolution authorizing renewal of non-medical insurance coverage with
Illinois Counties Risk Management Trust. (Village Manager)

I. Resolution #22-21-70: A Resolution authorizing an agreement to re-establish a $3.0 million line
of credit with Old National Bank. (Village Manager)

Trustee Mallo moved, seconded by Trustee Soch, to approve the consent agenda. 
There was no discussion. 
Roll Call:  Trustee Pembroke- yes Trustee Stalker- yes 

Trustee Mallo- yes Trustee Desmond- yes 
Trustee Olejniczak- yes Trustee Soch- yes 

Motion passes 6-0-0. 

10. Village Clerk’s Report

Disbursement Resolution #2022-21D dated November 22, 2022, in the amount of $2,915,562.79 (two 
million, nine hundred and fifteen thousand, five hundred and sixty-two dollars and seventy-nine cents). 

Trustee Pembroke, seconded by Trustee Soch, motioned to approve the disbursement resolution. 
Roll Call:  Trustee Pembroke- yes Trustee Stalker- yes 

Trustee Mallo- yes Trustee Desmond- yes 
Trustee Olejniczak- yes Trustee Soch- yes 

Motion passes 6-0-0. 

11. Village President’s Report

Mayor Vorderer wishes everyone a Happy Thanksgiving and acknowledges that we all have a lot to be 
thankful for. 

12. Executive Session #2022-16 for the purpose of 1) approving closed meeting minutes #2022-15
dated October 11, 2022 and 2) a pending litigation.

Trustee Olejniczak motioned, seconded by Trustee Soch, to move to closed session at 9:20am. 

Roll Call:  Trustee Pembroke- yes Trustee Stalker- yes 
Trustee Mallo- yes Trustee Desmond- yes 
Trustee Olejniczak- yes Trustee Soch- yes 

Motion passes 6-0-0. 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 7



Open session resumes at 9:57am. 

13. Adjournment

Trustee Olejniczak, seconded by Trustee Stalker, motioned to adjourn open session at 9:57am.

Voice vote, all vote aye.

__________________________________________ ________________________________ 

Village President  Village Clerk 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 8



VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN  
BOARD OF TRUSTEES MEETING  
AGENDA ITEM SUBMISSION SHEET 

Meeting Date: December 1, 2022 Agenda Item Number:  8 A  

Department:  Building & Zoning Staff contact: Donald E. McKenna 

Staff contact email: dmckenna@oaklawn-il.gov 
Staff contact phone: 708 499 7800  

SUMMARY 
At the regularly scheduled meeting of the Traffic Safety Committee held on Thursday, 
December 1, 2022, the following item pertaining to traffic control was recommended to the 
Village Board of Trustees for approval and implementation.  George Cachares from 5100 W. 
96th Street #432, Petitioner, requested to amend the existing parking signage on east side of 
Tulley Avenue, between 96th Street and Museum Drive.  The petitioner is requesting 6 parking 
spaces dedicated for the sole use of the residents of the Arbor Court Condominium. 

BACKGROUND 
The petitioner first appeared before the Committee on November 3, 2022.  The Board tabled said 
request in order to allow staff time to research the Village parking obligations to Advocate and 
Metra on Tulley Avenue.  The Arbor Court resident explained that the Advocate employees use 
all the available parking spaces even though they have a surplus of parking in the parking garage.  
The Arbor Court residents do not have parking for family, friends or visitors to the building.  The 
Committee motioned to amend the existing parking signage on the north side of 96th Street 
between Tulley and 51st Avenue along with the west side of 51st Avenue, from 96th Street north 
to the cul–da-sac for the specific use of the residents of the multi-family building at 5100 W. 96th 
Street.   

RECOMMENDATION: 
The Traffic Safety Committee unanimously voted, (6-0) to recommend petition TC-1299-M, to 
amend the existing parking signage on the north side of 96th Street between Tulley and 51st 
Avenue along with the west side of 51st Avenue from 96th Street north to the cul–da-sac for the 
specific use of the residents of the multi-family building at 5100 W. 96th Street, to the Village 
President and Board of Trustees for final approval. 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 9

mailto:dmckenna@oaklawn-il.gov


THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Cook County, Illinois 

ORDINANCE 
NO. _____ 

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING CERTAIN TRAFFIC REGULATIONS (AMEND THE 
EXISTING PARKING SIGNAGE ON THE EAST SIDE OF TULLEY AVENUE, 

BETWEEN 96TH STREET AND MUSEUN DRIVE TO PROVIDE 6 PARKING SPACES 
DEDICATED FOR THE SOLE USE OF THE RESIDENTS OF THE ARBOR COURT 

CONDOMINIUM) (TC-1299-M) 

TERRY VORDERER, President 
CLAIRE HENNING, Village Clerk 

TIM DESMOND 
ALEX G. OLEJNICZAK 

PAUL MALLO 
JAMIE PEMBROKE 

WILLIAM R. STALKER 
RALPH SOCH 
Board of Trustees 

______________________________________________________________________________
Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak Lawn 

Law Offices of Peterson, Johnson, & Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys 
200 W. Adams, Ste. 2125, Chicago, IL  60606 

Item 8 B

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 10



VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Cook County, Illinois 

ORDINANCE NO. ____ 

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING CERTAIN TRAFFIC REGULATIONS (AMEND THE 
EXISTING PARKING SIGNAGE ON THE EAST SIDE OF TULLEY AVENUE, 

BETWEEN 96TH STREET AND MUSEUN DRIVE TO PROVIDE 6 PARKING SPACES 
DEDICATED FOR THE SOLE USE OF THE RESIDENTS OF THE ARBOR COURT 

CONDOMINIUM) (TC-1299-M) 

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 
provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Oak Lawn, Cook County, Illinois, with a population in excess of 25,000 is, 
therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article VII, may 
exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, including, 
but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and  

 WHEREAS, on December 13, 2022, the Traffic Safety Committee of the Village of Oak 
Lawn heard Petition TC-1299-M from Petitioner, George Cachares, of 5100 W. 96th Street, Apt. 
432, requesting to amend the existing parking signage on east side of Tulley Avenue, between 96th 
Street and Museum Drive, to provide six (6) parking spaces dedicated for the sole use of the 
Residents of the Arbor Court Condominium; and   

WHEREAS, the Petitioner previously explained to the Board that the employees of 
Advocate use all the available parking spaces even though they have a surplus of parking in the 
parking garage. The Arbor Court residents do not have parking for family, friends, or visitors to 
the building; and  

WHEREAS, the Traffic Safety Committee voted unanimously to approve the petition TC-
1299-M to amend the existing parking signage on the north side of 96th Street between Tulley and 
51st Avenue along with the west side of 51st Avenue, from 96th Street north to the cul-de-sac for 
the specific use of the residents of the multi-family building at 5100 W. 96th Street; and 

WHEREAS, it has been determined by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village 
of Oak Lawn that it is in the best interest of the Village and its residents to adopt the finding and 
recommendations of the Traffic Safety Committee and approve TC-1299-M; and  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE VILLAGE PRESIDENT AND 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, 
IN THE EXERCISE OF ITS HOME RULE POWERS, AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1: The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as findings of fact as if 
said recitals were fully set forth herein.  

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 11



SECTION 2: Pursuant to Section 11-5-2 of the Oak Lawn Village Code, the Village shall have 
authority to prohibit parking on any street under the control and jurisdiction of the Village. Further, 
per Section 11-5-4B, public works is authorized to erect signs on any block of any residential street 
indicating residents’ parking only when it has been determined by the Traffic Safety Committee 
that fifty percent (50%) or more of the vehicles parked in a given block are not residents. 

SECTION 3: Any person violating any of the restrictions or prohibitions set forth herein shall be 
subject to the penalties for such violation as prescribed by the Oak Lawn Village Code, as now 
existing or hereafter amended.  

SECTION 4: The Department of Public Works is hereby authorized and directed to post traffic 
regulatory signage in accordance with the provisions of this Ordinance.  

SECTION 5: Any policy, resolution, or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Ordinance shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict.  

SECTION 6:  This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and 
approval in the manner provided by law.  

PASSED THIS 13th day of December, 2022. 

AYES:  

NAYS:  

ABSENT:  

APPROVED THIS 13th day of December, 2022. 

____________________________________ 
               VILLAGE PRESIDENT 

ATTEST: 

____________________________________ 
VILLAGE CLERK 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 12



STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
) SS. 

COUNTY OF COOK  ) 

CERTIFICATE 

I, CLAIRE HENNING, Village Clerk of the Village of Oak Lawn, County of Cook and 

State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of Ordinance 

No. _____, “AN ORDINANCE APPROVING CERTAIN TRAFFIC REGULATIONS (AMEND 

THE EXISTING PARKING SIGNAGE ON THE EAST SIDE OF TULLEY AVENUE, 

BETWEEN 96TH STREET AND MUSEUN DRIVE TO PROVIDE 6 PARKING SPACES 

DEDICATED FOR THE SOLE USE OF THE RESIDENTS OF THE ARBOR COURT 

CONDOMINIUM) (TC-1299-M),” which was adopted by the President and Board of Trustees of 

the Village of Oak Lawn on this 13th day of December, 2022. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Oak Lawn this 13th day of December, 2022. 

____________________________________ 
     CLAIRE HENNING, VILLAGE CLERK 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 13



VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN  
BOARD OF TRUSTEES MEETING  
AGENDA ITEM SUBMISSION SHEET 

Meeting Date: November 21st 2022 Agenda Item Number:  8 C 

Department: Building & Zoning  Staff Contact: Drew Guardi 

Staff Contact Email:  aguardi@oaklawn-il.gov 

Staff Contact Phone: 708 499 7711  

SUMMARY  
Pet #2022-19, a request for a variation for the approval for a pole sign at 5600-5620 West 95th 
Street in a C-2 (General Service) zoning district, Peter Giadla, petitioner, was presented to the 
Zoning and Planning Board on November 21, 2022. 

BACKGROUND 
The petitioner is looking to rehab the existing pole sign on the property.  They want to add 3 
tenant panels to the sign and cover the pole with a sleeve.  Some of the signage on the building 
will be removed when the additions to the pole sign are installed.  The installation of a 
monument sign would cause sight restriction issues for Parkside Avenue or the parking lot 
entrance. 

RECOMMENDATION: 
The Zoning and Planning Board voted 6-1, a no vote by Commissioner Bennett, to recommend 
petition #2022-19 a request for a variation for the approval for a pole sign at 5600-5620 West 
95th Street in a C-2 (General Service) zoning district, to the Village President and Board of 
Trustees. 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 14

mailto:aguardi@oaklawn-il.gov


THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Cook County, Illinois 

ORDINANCE 
NO. _____ 

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A VARIATION FOR THE APPROVAL FOR A POLE 
SIGN AT 5600-5620 WEST 95TH STREET IN A C-2 (GENERAL SERVICE) ZONING 

DISTRICT (PETER GIADLA, PETITIONER)  

TERRY VORDERER, President 
CLAIRE HENNING, Village Clerk 

TIM DESMOND 
ALEX G. OLEJNICZAK 

PAUL MALLO 
JAMIE PEMBROKE 

WILLIAM R. STALKER 
RALPH SOCH 
Board of Trustees 

______________________________________________________________________________
Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak Lawn 

Law Offices of Peterson, Johnson, & Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys 
200 W. Adams, Ste. 2125, Chicago, IL  60606 

Item 8 D

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 15



VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Cook County, Illinois 

ORDINANCE NO. ____ 

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A VARIATION FOR THE APPROVAL FOR A POLE 
SIGN AT 5600-5620 WEST 95TH STREET IN A C-2 (GENERAL SERVICE) ZONING 

DISTRICT (PETER GIADLA, PETITIONER)  

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 
provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Oak Lawn, Cook County, Illinois, with a population in excess of 25,000 is, 
therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article VII, may 
exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, including, 
but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and  

WHEREAS, on November 21, 2022, the Zoning and Planning Commission of the Village 
of Oak Lawn conducted a public hearing on petition #2022-19 submitted by Peter Giadla 
(“Petitioner”), pertaining to a request for a variation for the approval for a pole sign at 5600-5620 
West 95th Street, Oak Lawn, Illinois (“Subject Property”) in a C-2 (General Service) zoning 
district; and 

WHEREAS, the Petitioner is looking to rehab the existing pole sign on the subject property 
by adding three (3) tenant panels to the sign and covering the pole with a sleeve. Some of the 
signage on the building will be removed when the additions to the pole sign are installed; and 

WHEREAS, the installation of a monument sign would cause sight restriction issues for 
Parkside Avenue, or the parking lot entrance; and 

WHEREAS, the Subject Property is currently zoned as C-2 (General Service) Zoning 
District, and a variation is required for the approval for a pole sign; and   

WHEREAS, the Zoning and Planning Commission voted 6-1 to recommend to the Village 
President and Board of Trustees the variation for the approval of a pole sign at 5600-5620 West 
95th Street in the C-2 General Service Zoning District located at the Subject Property; and  

WHEREAS, it has been determined by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village 
of Oak Lawn that it is in the best interests of the Village and its residents to adopt the findings and 
recommendations of the Zoning and Planning Commission and to approve said variation; and  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE VILLAGE PRESIDENT AND 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, 
IN THE EXERCISE OF ITS HOME RULE POWERS, AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1: The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as findings of fact as if 
said recitals were fully set forth herein.  

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 16



SECTION 2: The variation set forth herein below shall be applicable to the following described 
property: 

See Legal Description attached hereto as Exhibit 1  

(Commonly known as 5600-5620 West 95th Street, Oak Lawn, Illinois) 

(Hereafter referred to as the “Subject Property”) 

SECTION 3:  A variation is hereby granted to the Petitioner/Owner of the Subject Property for 
the approval for a pole sign at the Subject Property in the C-2 General Service Zoning District. 

SECTION 4: Any policy, resolution or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Ordinance shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

SECTION 5: This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect after its passage in a manner 
consistent with applicable laws. 

PASSED THIS    13th day of December, 2022.  

AYES:  

NAYS:  

ABSENT:  

APPROVED THIS 13th day of December, 2022. 

______________________________ 
         VILLAGE PRESIDENT 

ATTEST: 

____________________________________ 
VILLAGE CLERK  

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 17



STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
) SS. 

COUNTY OF COOK  ) 

CERTIFICATE 

I, CLAIRE HENNING, Village Clerk of the Village of Oak Lawn, County of Cook and 

State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of Ordinance 

No. _____, “AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A VARIATION FOR THE APPROVAL FOR A 

POLE SIGN AT 5600-5620 WEST 95TH STREET IN A C-2 (GENERAL SERVICE) ZONING 

DISTRICT (PETER GIADLA, PETITIONER),” which was adopted by the President and Board 

of Trustees of the Village of Oak Lawn on the 13th day of December, 2022.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Oak Lawn this 13th day of December, 2022. 

____________________________________ 
  CLAIRE HENNING, VILLAGE CLERK  

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 18



VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN  
BOARD OF TRUSTEES MEETING  
AGENDA ITEM SUBMISSION SHEET 

Agenda Item Number:  8 E

 Staff Contact: Donald E. McKenna 

Meeting Date: December 13, 2022  

Department: Building & Zoning  

Staff Contact Email: dmckenna@oaklawn-il.gov 

Staff Contact Phone: 708 499 7800 

SUMMARY  
Pet # 2022-20, a request for a Special Use Permit to allow a Special Event Space in a C-3 
(Regional Shopping) Zoned District at 8821 Ridgeland Avenue, the Opulent Room LLC, 
petitioner, was presented to the Zoning & Planning Commission at the regularly scheduled 
meeting held on Monday, November 21, 2022. 

BACKGROUND 
The petitioner explained that she plans on inviting individuals and companies looking for a 
location to host a party, meeting or special events.  Typical events include family parties, 
showers and business meetings.  The guest will bring their own food and beverages.  The 
petitioner will provide tables, chairs and a stereo.  Food will not be prepared on site and the 
petitioner will not be seeking a liquor license at this time.   The petitioner will have 4 employees.  
The petitioner will limit the events to 50 occupant.  The petitioner’s space will be 2,300 square 
foot in area.  Plans will be submitted to remove a dividing wall, add a sink and miscellaneous 
decorative elements.   

Marion Wegnar the owner of Phil’s Pizza across the street voiced his concern that there could be 
a parking issue at this site, however it was noted that there are over 300 parking spaces including 
spaces by the Dunkin Donuts which are seldom used. 

Section 4-6C-2 of the Zoning Ordinance provides a list of allowable uses for the C-3 district and 
a Special Event Space is not among the listed uses.   

RECOMMENDATION: 
The Zoning & Planning Commission voted 5-2, no votes cast by members Lundy and Bennett, to 
recommend petition #2022-20 a request for a Special Event Space, to the Village President and 
Board of Trustees. 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 19

mailto:dmckenna@oaklawn-il.gov


THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Cook County, Illinois 

ORDINANCE 
NO. _____  

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A SPECIAL USE PERMIT TO ALLOW A SPECIAL 
EVENT SPACE IN A C-3 (REGIONAL SHOPPING) ZONING DISTRICT LOCATED 

AT 8821 S. RIDGELAND AVENUE (THE OPULENT ROOM LLC, PETITIONER) 

TERRY VORDERER, President 
CLAIRE HENNING, Village Clerk 

TIM DESMOND 
ALEX G. OLEJNICZAK 

PAUL MALLO 
JAMIE PEMBROKE 

WILLIAM R. STALKER 
RALPH SOCH 

Board of Trustees 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak Lawn 
Peterson, Johnson, and Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys 

200 W. Adams, Suite 2125, Chicago, IL  60606 

Item 8 F

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 20



VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Cook County, Illinois 

ORDINANCE NO. ____ 

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A SPECIAL USE PERMIT TO ALLOW A SPECIAL 
EVENT SPACE IN A C-3 (REGIONAL SHOPPING) ZONING DISTRICT LOCATED 

AT 8821 S. RIDGELAND AVENUE (THE OPULENT ROOM LLC, PETITIONER) 

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 
provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Oak Lawn, Cook County, Illinois, with a population in excess of 25,000 is, 
therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article VII, may 
exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, including, 
but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and  

WHEREAS, on November 2`, 2022, the Zoning and Planning Commission of the Village 
of Oak Lawn conducted a public hearing on petition #2022-20 submitted by the Opulent Room, 
LLC (“Petitioner”), pertaining to a request for a special use permit to allow a special event space 
in a C-3 (Regional Shopping) Zoning District at 8821 Ridgeland Avenue, Oak Lawn, Illinois 
(“Subject Property”); and 

WHEREAS, the Subject Property is currently zoned as C-3 (Regional Shopping). The 
Petitioner plans on inviting individuals and companies looking for a location to host a party, 
meeting, or special events, which will include family parties, showers, and business meetings. The 
guests will bring their own food and beverages, while the Petitioner will provide tables, chairs, 
and a stereo. Food will not be prepared on the premises and the Petitioner will not be seeking a 
liquor license at this time. The petitioner will have four (4) employees. The events will be limited 
to fifty (50) occupants; and 

WHEREAS, the Petitioner’s space will be 2,300 square foot in area (Plans will be 
submitted to remove a dividing wall, add a sink, as well as miscellaneous decorative elements.); 
and 

WHEREAS, a special use permit is required to allow a special event space in a C-3 
Regional Shopping Zoning District; and  

WHEREAS, Marion Wegnar, the owner of Phil’s Pizza located across the street from the 
Subject Property, voiced his concern that there could be a parking issue at this site; however, there 
are over three hundred (300) parking spaces, including spaces by the Dunkin Donuts, which are 
seldom used; and  

WHEREAS, the Zoning and Planning Commission voted 5-2, with no votes cast by 
members Lundy and Bennett, to recommend to the Village President and Board of Trustees the 
granting of a special use permit to allow a special event space in a C-3 (Regional Shopping) Zoning 
District at 8821 Ridgeland Avenue, Oak Lawn, Illinois; and  

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 21



WHEREAS, it has been determined by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village 
of Oak Lawn that it is in the best interests of the Village and its residents to adopt the findings and 
recommendations of the Zoning and Planning Commission and to approve said special use permit; 
and  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE VILLAGE PRESIDENT AND 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, 
IN THE EXERCISE OF ITS HOME RULE POWERS, AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1: The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as findings of fact as if 
said recitals were fully set forth herein.  

SECTION 2: The special use set forth herein below shall be applicable to the following described 
property: 

See Legal Description attached hereto as Exhibit 1  

(Commonly known as 8821 S. Ridgeland Avenue, Oak Lawn, Illinois) 

(Hereafter referred to as the “Subject Property”) 

SECTION 3:  A special use permit is hereby granted to the Petitioner/Owner of the Subject 
Property to allow a special event space in a C-3 (Regional Shopping) Zoning District at 8821 
Ridgeland Avenue, Oak Lawn, Illinois. 

SECTION 4: Any policy, resolution or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Ordinance shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

SECTION 5: This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect after its passage in a manner 
consistent with applicable laws. 

PASSED THIS 13th  day of December, 2022.  

AYES:  

NAYS:  

ABSENT:  

APPROVED THIS 13th  day of December, 2022. 

______________________________ 
         VILLAGE PRESIDENT 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 22



ATTEST: 

____________________________________ 
VILLAGE CLERK  

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 23



STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
) SS. 

COUNTY OF COOK  ) 

CERTIFICATE 

I, CLAIRE HENNING, Village Clerk of the Village of Oak Lawn, County of Cook and 

State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of Ordinance 

No. _____, “AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A SPECIAL USE PERMIT TO ALLOW A 

SPECIAL EVENT SPACE IN A C-3 (REGIONAL SHOPPING) ZONING DISTRICT 

LOCATED AT 8821 S. RIDGELAND AVENUE (THE OPULENT ROOM LLC, 

PETITIONER),” which was adopted by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak 

Lawn on the 13th day of December, 2022.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Oak Lawn this 13th day of December, 2022. 

____________________________________ 
  CLAIRE HENNING, VILLAGE CLERK  

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 24



VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN  
BOARD OF TRUSTEES MEETING  
AGENDA ITEM SUBMISSION SHEET 

Agenda Item Number:  8 G 

Staff Contact: Donald E. McKenna 

Meeting Date: December 13, 2022 

Department: Building & Zoning  

Staff Contact Email:  dmckenna@oaklawn-il.gov 

Staff Contact Phone: 708 499 7800  

SUMMARY  
Pet # A-2022-07, a request for a 1’ fence height variation to allow a 7’ tall fence at 10421 
Kedvale Avenue.  The petitioners Matthew & Sarah Malburg purchased a newly constructed 
home, located in a R-1 (Single-Family) zoning district and afterward erected the subject fence.  
The above subject request was presented to the Appeals & Review Board on November 22, 
2022. 

BACKGROUND 
The petitioner constructed a fence with metal post and horizontal wood panels around the rear 
yard of his property.  The fence panels are actually 6’ tall but the home owner left a 12” gap 
between the bottom of the fence and the ground, thus creating a fence with an overall height of 
7’.  After inspecting the fence, the home owner was directed by the Building Department to 
lower the subject fence or petition the Appeals Board for a possible variation.  The petitioner 
explained that he was attempting to keep the top of the fence level around the property, however 
the elevation of the ground around the lot changes in order to accommodate the rain water runoff 
which subsequently created the gap under the fence.  The petitioner and neighbor to the east 
agreed to the installation of a metal mesh attached to the bottom of the fence, filling said void. 

RECOMMENDATION: 
The Appeals & Review Board unanimously voted (6-0) to recommend petition #A-2022-07 a 
request for a 1’ fence height variation at 10421 Kedvale Avenue, subject to a metal mesh 
attached to the bottom of the fence to eliminate the existing gap under the fence, to the Village 
President and Board of Trustees. 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 25

mailto:dmckenna@oaklawn-il.gov


THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Cook County, Illinois 

ORDINANCE 
NO. _____ 

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A 1’ FENCE VARIATION TO ALLOW A 
7’ TALL FENCE AT 10421 KEDVALE AVENUE (MATTHEW AND 

SARAH MALBURG, PETITIONERS) 

TERRY VORDERER, President 
CLAIRE HENNING, Village Clerk 

TIM DESMOND 
ALEX G. OLEJNICZAK 

PAUL MALLO 
JAMIE PEMBROKE 

WILLIAM R. STALKER 
RALPH SOCH 

Board of Trustees 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak Lawn 
Peterson, Johnson, and Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys 

200 W. Adams, Suite 2125 Chicago, IL  60606 

Item 8 H

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 26



VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Cook County, Illinois 

ORDINANCE NO. _______ 

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A 1’ FENCE VARIATION TO ALLOW A 
7’ TALL FENCE AT 10421 KEDVALE AVENUE (MATTHEW AND 

SARAH MALBURG, PETITIONERS) 

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 
provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Oak Lawn, Cook County, Illinois, with a population in excess of 25,000 is, 
therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article VII, may 
exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, including, 
but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and  

 WHEREAS, on December 13, 2022, the Appeals and Review Board conducted a public 
meeting on Petition # A-2022-07, relative to a request submitted by Matthew and Sarah Malburg 
(“Petitioners”), requesting a 1’ fence height variation to allow a 7’ tall fence at 10421 Kedvale 
Avenue, Oak Lawn, Illinois (“Subject Property”); and  

WHEREAS, the Petitioners constructed a fence with metal post and horizontal wood panels 
around the rear yard of the Subject Property. The fence panels are 6’ tall; however, the Petitioners 
left a 12” gap between the bottom of the fence and the ground, thus creating a fence with an overall 
height of seven 7’; and 

WHEREAS, the Petitioner explained that he was attempting to keep the top of the fence 
level around the property; however, the elevation of the ground around the lot changes in order to 
accommodate the rain water runoff, which subsequently created the gap under the fence; and 

WHEREAS, the Petitioners and their neighbor to the east agreed to the installation of a 
metal mesh attached to the bottom of the fence; and 

WHEREAS, the proposed 1’ fence height variation to allow a 7’ tall fence will allow the 
Petitioners to eliminate the existing gap under the fence by attaching a metal mesh to the bottom 
of the fence; and  

WHEREAS, after hearing testimony on the petition, the Appeals and Review Board found 
that the Petitioners met the requisite standards enumerated by the Village Code for granting a 
variation and adopted the written factual written justifications submitted by the Petitioners; and 

WHEREAS, the Appeals and Review Board unanimously voted (6:0) to recommend to the 
Village President and Board of Trustees for the approval of the Variation; and 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 27



WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak Lawn believe and 
hereby declare that it is in the best interest of the Village and its residents to adopt the findings and 
recommendations of the Appeals and Review Board and to approve said Variation; and  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE VILLAGE PRESIDENT AND 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, 
IN THE EXERCISE OF ITS HOME RULE POWERS, AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1: The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as findings of fact as if 
said recitals were fully set forth herein.  

SECTION 2: The Variation set forth herein below shall be applicable to the following described 
property: 

(See Legal Description attached hereto as Exhibit 1) 

(Commonly known as 10421 Kedvale Avenue Oak Lawn, Illinois) 

(Hereinafter referred to as the “Subject Property”)  

SECTION 3: That a Variation of a 1’ fence height to allow a 7’ tall fence at the Subject Property 
is hereby granted. 

SECTION 4: Any policy, resolution or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Ordinance shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

SECTION 5: This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and 
approval in the manner provided by law.  

PASSED THIS 13th day of December, 2022. 

AYES:  

NAYS:  

ABSENT:  

APPROVED THIS 13th day of December, 2022. 

____________________________________ 
               VILLAGE PRESIDENT 

ATTEST: 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 28



____________________________________ 
VILLAGE CLERK 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 29



STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
) SS. 

COUNTY OF COOK  ) 

CERTIFICATE 

I, CLAIRE HENNING, Village Clerk of the Village of Oak Lawn, County of Cook and 

State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of Ordinance 

No. _____, “AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A 1’ FENCE VARIATION TO ALLOW A 7’ TALL 

FENCE AT 10421 KEDVALE AVENUE (MATTHEW AND SARAH MALBURG, 

PETITIONERS),” which was adopted by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of 

Oak Lawn on this 13th day of December, 2022. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Oak Lawn this 13th day of December, 2022. 

____________________________________ 
     CLAIRE HENNING, VILLAGE CLERK 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 30



8 I 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 31



THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Cook County, Illinois 

ORDINANCE 
NO. _____ 

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A 25’ CORNER SIDE YARD VARIATION 
AT 5123 WEST 101ST STREET (LUIS CORREA JR., PETITIONER) 

TERRY VORDERER, President 
CLAIRE HENNING, Village Clerk 

TIM DESMOND 
ALEX G. OLEJNICZAK 

PAUL MALLO 
JAMIE PEMBROKE 

WILLIAM R. STALKER 
RALPH SOCH 

Board of Trustees 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak Lawn 
Peterson, Johnson, and Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys 

200 W. Adams, Suite 2125 Chicago, IL  60606 

Item 8 J

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 32



VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Cook County, Illinois 

ORDINANCE NO. _______ 

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A 25’ CORNER SIDE YARD VARIATION 
AT 5123 WEST 101ST STREET (LUIS CORREA JR., PETITIONER) 

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 
provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Oak Lawn, Cook County, Illinois, with a population in excess of 25,000 is, 
therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article VII, may 
exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, including, 
but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and  

 WHEREAS, on December 13, 2022, the Appeals and Review Board conducted a public 
meeting on Petition # A-2022-5, relative to a request submitted by Luis Correa Jr. (“Petitioner”), 
requesting twenty-five feet (25’) corner side yard variance (“Variation”) to allow petitioner to 
construct a six (6) foot fence along the west property line within the corner side yard setback at 
5132 West 101st Street, Oak Lawn, Illinois (“Subject Property”); and  

WHEREAS, for the purposes of this petition, the yard abutting 52nd Avenue will be 
considered the street side yard and the yard abutting 101st Street will be considered the front yard. 
All the homes north of the Petitioner’s residence face 52nd Avenue with twenty-five feet (25’) front 
yards. Therefore, the Petitioner’s 52nd Avenue side yard must match the 25’ front yard of the 
neighbors to the south to allow the Petitioner to construct the proposed six-foot fence along the 
west property line within the corner side yard setback; and 

WHEREAS, the Petitioner has young children that play in the yard. The proposed fence 
will provide a safe environment from the traffic on 52nd Avenue. There is a door on the west side 
of the house that is used for access to the rear and side yards, and the variation will allow the door 
to be surrounded by the fence; and 

WHEREAS, the fence will not cause any sightline restrictions to motorists on either 52nd 
Avenue or 101st Street; and 

WHEREAS, after hearing testimony on the petition, the Appeals and Review Board found 
that the petition met the requisite standards enumerated by the Village Code for granting a variation 
and adopted the written factual written justifications submitted by the Petitioner; and 

WHEREAS, the Appeals and Review Board voted 4-1, with no vote by Commissioner 
Lurquin, to recommend to the Village President and Board of Trustees for the approval of the 
Variation; and 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 33



WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak Lawn believe and 
hereby declare that it is in the best interest of the Village and its residents to adopt the findings and 
recommendations of the Appeals and Review Board and to approve said Variation; and  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE VILLAGE PRESIDENT AND 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, 
IN THE EXERCISE OF ITS HOME RULE POWERS, AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1: The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as findings of fact as if 
said recitals were fully set forth herein.  

SECTION 2: The Variation set forth herein below shall be applicable to the following described 
property: 

(See Legal Description attached hereto as Exhibit 1) 

(Commonly known as 5132 West 101st Street, Oak Lawn, Illinois) 

(Hereinafter referred to as the “Subject Property”)  

SECTION 3: That a Variation from the side yard requirements of Section 4-5A-3B-1c of the Oak 
Lawn Village code to allow for a twenty-five foot (25’) corner side yard variation at the Subject 
Property is hereby granted. 

SECTION 4: Any policy, resolution or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Ordinance shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

SECTION 5: This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and 
approval in the manner provided by law.  

PASSED THIS 13th day of December, 2022. 

AYES:  

NAYS:  

ABSENT:  

APPROVED THIS 13th day of December, 2022. 

____________________________________ 
               VILLAGE PRESIDENT 

ATTEST: 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 34



____________________________________ 
VILLAGE CLERK 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 35



STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
) SS. 

COUNTY OF COOK  ) 

CERTIFICATE 

I, CLAIRE HENNING, Village Clerk of the Village of Oak Lawn, County of Cook and 

State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of Ordinance 

No. _____, “AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A 25’ CORNER SIDE YARD VARIATION AT 

5123 WEST 101ST STREET (LUIS CORREA JR., PETITIONER),” which was adopted by the 

President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak Lawn on this 13th day of December, 2022. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Oak Lawn this 13th day of December, 2022. 

____________________________________ 
     CLAIRE HENNING, VILLAGE CLERK 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 36



VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Board of Trustees Meeting 

AGENDA ITEM SUBMISSION SHEET 

Meeting Date:  12/13/2022 Agenda Item Number: ____8 K_______ 
(Clerk’s Office will insert) 

Department:  Finance Staff Contact:   Adam Metz           

Staff Contact email/phone number: ametz@oaklawn-il.gov/ 708-499-7062 

SUMMARY: _Approval of the 2023 Sewer Rates    

BACKGROUND:  As noted during the December 1st, 2022 Village Budget Workshop #2, the Water  

Retail and Sewer Fund have been operating at a deficit for the past 2 years.  A rate structure increase was  

Presented to the Village Board to address the structural operating deficit.  The increases to the sewer rates 

will balance the budget for Fiscal 2023 in the Water and Sewer Fund.         

RECOMMENDATION: Unanimous Approval ______ 

______ 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 37

mailto:ametz@oaklawn-il.gov/


THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Cook County, Illinois 

ORDINANCE 
NO. 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE 9 CHAPTER 4 ARTICLE B ENTITLED “RATES 
AND CHARGES” OF THE OAK LAWN VILLAGE CODE 

TERRY VORDERER, President 
CLAIRE HENNING, Village Clerk 

TIM DESMOND 
ALEX G. OLEJNICZAK 

PAUL MALLO  
JAMIE PEMBROKE 

WILLIAM R. STALKER 
RALPH SOCH 

Board of Trustees 

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak Lawn 
Peterson, Johnson, and Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys 

200 W. Adams, Suite 2125, Chicago, IL 60606 

Item 8 K

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 38



VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Cook County, Illinois 

ORDINANCE NO. 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE 9 CHAPTER 4 ARTICLE B ENTITLED “RATES 
AND CHARGES” OF THE OAK LAWN VILLAGE CODE 

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 
provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Oak Lawn, Cook County, Illinois, with a population in excess of 25,000 is, 
therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article VII, may 
exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, including, 
but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and 

WHEREAS, the Village of Oak Lawn (“Village”), deems it is in the best interests of the 
Village to amend Title 9 Chapter 4 Article B entitled “RATES AND CHARGES” of the Oak Lawn 
Village Code; and 

WHEREAS, amending the Village Code will provide the Village with needed funds to 
properly maintain the waterworks and sewage system; and 

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak Lawn find that it is 
in the best interest of the Village and its residents to revise and amend the Oak Lawn Village Code 
so as to provide the Village with needed funds to properly maintain the waterworks and sewage 
system. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE VILLAGE PRESIDENT AND 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, 
IN THE EXERCISE OF ITS HOME RULE POWERS, AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1: The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as findings of fact as if 
said recitals were fully set forth herein. 

SECTION 2: That Title 9 Chapter 4 Article B of the Oak Lawn Village Code entitled “RATES 
AND CHARGES” is hereby amended by deleting the strikethrough language and adding the 
underlined language as follows: 

9-4B-3: SEWER RATES AND CHARGES

A. Residential Units: There shall be a charge of eight dollars thirty three cents ($8.33) eight
dollars sixty three cents ($8.63) per month per sanitary sewer connection per family to
each single-family home, apartment, condominium, mobile trailer and motel rental unit.
This charge shall be billed quarterly at twenty four dollars ninety nine cents ($24.99)
twenty five dollars eighty nine cents ($25.89). There shall also be an additional sewer

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 39



service rehab charge of forty cents ($0.40) ninety cents ($0.90) per one thousand 
(1,000) gallons for any usage of water metered to each such user during a billing 
period. 

B. Commercial And Industrial Units: There shall be a charge of ten dollars ($10.00) ten
dollars thirty cents ($10.30) per month per commercial unit and per industrial unit, plus
an additional sewer rehab service charge of one dollar sixty seven cents ($1.67) two
dollars seventeen cents ($2.17) per one thousand (1,000) gallons for any usage of water
metered to each such user during a billing period.

C. Other Entities: There is hereby established a sewer rehab service charge for
eleemosynary institutions, churches, hospitals, schools, and all other governmental
entities in the amount of one dollar sixty-seven cents ($1.67) two dollars seventeen
cents ($2.17) per one thousand (1,000) gallons for any usage of water metered to
each such user during a billing period.

SECTION 3: Any policy, resolution or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the 
provisions of this Ordinance shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

SECTION 4: This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and 
approval in the manner provided by law. 

PASSED THIS 13th day of December,2022 

AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

APPROVED THIS 13th day of December, 2022. 

VILLAGE PRESIDENT 

ATTEST: 

VILLAGE CLERK 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 40



STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
) SS. 

COUNTY OF COOK ) 

CERTIFICATE 

I, CLAIRE HENNING, Village Clerk of the Village of Oak Lawn, County of Cook and State of 

Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of Ordinance No. 

, “AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE 9 CHAPTER 4 ARTICLE B 

ENTITLED “RATES AND CHARGES” OF THE OAK LAWN VILLAGE CODE,” which was 

adopted by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak Lawn on 13th day of 

December, 2022. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Oak Lawn this 13th day of December, 2022. 

CLAIRE HENNING, VILLAGE CLERK 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 41



VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Board of Trustees Meeting 

AGENDA ITEM SUBMISSION SHEET 

Meeting Date:  12/13/2022 Agenda Item Number: ___8 L_____ 
(Clerk’s Office will insert) 

Department:  Finance Staff Contact:   Adam Metz           

Staff Contact email/phone number: ametz@oaklawn-il.gov/ 708-499-7062 

SUMMARY: _Approval of the 2023 Water Regional and Water Retail Rates    

BACKGROUND:  The Regional Village Managers met in November, 2022 to approve the FY23   

Regional Water System budget.  The increase of the customer communities is based on the rate structure  

using the approved rate model to fund the 2023 Budget.  Approval was passed by the Regional Managers 

In addition, as noted during the December 1st, 2022 Village Budget Workshop #2, the Water Retail and  

Sewer Fund have been operating at a deficit for the past 2 years.  A rate structure increase was presented  

to the Village Board to address the structural operating deficit.  The increases to the retail water rates  

will balance the budget for Fiscal 2023 in the Water and Sewer Fund.         

RECOMMENDATION: Unanimous Approval ______ 

______ 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 42

mailto:ametz@oaklawn-il.gov/


THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Cook County, Illinois 

ORDINANCE 
NO.  

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CERTAIN SECTIONS OF TITLE 9 CHAPTER 4 
ARTICLE B ENTITLED “WATER RATES AND CHARGES” OF THE OAK LAWN 

VILLAGE CODE  

TERRY VORDERER, President 
CLAIRE HENNING, Village Clerk 

TIM DESMOND 
ALEX G. OLEJNICZAK 

PAUL MALLO 
JAMIE PEMBROKE 

WILLIAM R. STALKER 
RALPH SOCH 

Board of Trustees 
______________________________________________________________________________

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak Lawn 
Law Offices of Peterson, Johnson, & Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys 

200 W. Adams, Ste. 2125, Chicago, IL  60606 

Item 8 L

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 43



VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Cook County, Illinois 

ORDINANCE NO. 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CERTAIN SECTIONS OF TITLE 9 CHAPTER 4 
ARTICLE B ENTITLED “WATER RATES AND CHARGES” OF THE OAK LAWN 

VILLAGE CODE  

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 
provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Oak Lawn, Cook County, Illinois, with a population in excess of 25,000 is, 
therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article VII, may 
exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, including, 
but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and  

WHEREAS, the Village of Oak Lawn (“Village”) desires to increase certain water rates as 
defined in Title 9 Chapter 4 Article B of the Oak Lawn Village Code (“Amendments”); and  

WHEREAS, said Amendments reflect the increased water cost by the City of Chicago to 
supply the Regional Water System; and  

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak Lawn believe and 
hereby declare that it is in the best interest of the Village and its residents to adjust the rate charges 
for Village Collection and Water Rates; and  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE VILLAGE PRESIDENT AND 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, 
IN THE EXERCISE OF ITS HOME RULE POWERS, AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1: The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as findings of fact as if 
said recitals were fully set forth herein.  

SECTION 2: That Subsections C of Title 9 Chapter 4 Article B entitled “RATES AND 
CHARGES” of the Village Code of Oak Lawn be and is hereby amended by deleting the following 
strikethrough language and adding the following underlined language:  

9-4B-2: WATER RATES AND CHARGES:

Except as otherwise provided herein, all consumers of water furnished by the Village shall pay for 
water quarterly on the basis of total gallonage of water used in that quarter according to the 
following rate schedule: 

A. Residential Rates (Quarterly):
1. Effective June 1, 2022 January 1, 2023:
a. 0 to 9,000 gallons at $6.77 $7.00 per 1,000 gallons (minimum charge of $60.93 $63.00).

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 44



b. 9,001 to 30,000 gallons at $6.87 $7.35 per 1,000 gallons.
c. Over 30,000 gallons at $6.97 $7.70 per 1,000 gallons.

B. Nonresidential Rates (Monthly):
1. Effective June 1, 2022 January 1, 2023:
a. 0 to 3,000 gallons a minimum charge of $20.31 $21.00.
b. 3,001 to 10,000 gallons at $6.87 $7.35 per 1,000 gallons.
c. Over 10,000 gallons at $6.97 $7.70 per 1,000 gallons.

C. Outside Communities (Monthly):
1. Effective June 1, 2022 January 1, 2023:
a. Chicago Ridge at $4.859 $4.852 per 1,000 gallons.
b. Palos Hills at $4.902 $4.881 per 1,000 gallons.
c. Oak Forest at $4.905 $4.911 per 1,000 gallons.
d. Tinley Park at $4.839 $4.874 per 1,000 gallons.
e. Orland Park at $4.823 $4.849 per 1,000 gallons.
f. Country Club Hills at $5.087 $5.058 per 1,000 gallons.
g. Matteson at $7.967 $8.700 per 1,000 gallons.
h. Olympia Fields at $5.394 $5.368 per 1,000 gallons.
i. Palos Park at $5.276 $5.223 per 1,000 gallons.
j. Bridgeview locations at the non-residential rates (see above).

D. Effective Date: The rates as provided in subsections A through C of this section shall become
effective upon the dates noted, or at the next specific billing date thereafter.

In the event that an increase is made in the rates charged by the City of Chicago for water sold by 
it to the Village, such increase shall be immediately reflected, upon it becoming effective, by way 
of a like increase in the amounts set forth in subsections A through C of this section. An ordinance 
amending said subsections A through C of this section, to reflect any such increase, shall be 
brought forward to the Village Board in January of each year. Notwithstanding the adoption date 
of said ordinance, the increase reflected in said ordinance shall be effective as of the effective date 
of the increase from the City of Chicago, and all water customers shall be billed accordingly. 
….. 

SECTION 3: Any policy, resolution or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Ordinance shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict.  

SECTION 4:  This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and 
approval in the manner provided by law.  

PASSED THIS 13th day of December, 2022 

AYES:  

NAYS:  

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 45



ABSENT: 

APPROVED THIS 13th day of December, 2022 

__________________________________________ 
         VILLAGE PRESIDENT 

ATTEST: 

__________________________________ 
               VILLAGE CLERK 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 46



STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
) SS. 

COUNTY OF COOK  ) 

CERTIFICATE 

I, CLAIRE HENNING, Village Clerk of the Village of Oak Lawn, County of Cook and 

State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of Ordinance 

No., “AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CERTAIN SECTIONS OF TITLE 9 CHAPTER 4 

ARTICLE B ENTITLED “WATER RATES AND CHARGES” OF THE OAK LAWN VILLAGE 

CODE” which was adopted by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak Lawn on 

this 13th day of December 2022.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Oak Lawn this 13th day of December 2022. 

____________________________________ 
     CLAIRE HENNING, VILLAGE CLERK 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 47



VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Board of Trustees Meeting 

AGENDA ITEM SUBMISSION SHEET 

Meeting Date:  12/13/2022 Agenda Item Number: __8 M_________ 
(Clerk’s Office will insert) 

Department:  Finance Staff Contact:   Adam Metz 

Staff Contact email/phone number: ametz@oaklawn-il.gov/ 708-499-7062 

SUMMARY:    _Approval of the Village Tax Levy for the 2022 Tax Year (Collectible during the  

2023 Fiscal Year).           ___________________________________________________  

____ 

BACKGROUND:  The 2022 Tax Levy (collectible during FY23) represents a significant component   

of the 2023 Village Budget and was reviewed in detail with the Village Board at the November 10th, 2022  

Village Budget Workshop #1.   Village management respectfully requests separate approval of the 2022    

Property Tax Levy as part of the approval of the balanced FY23 Municipal Budget presented to the  

Village Board.                                                                                                _________________________ 

_____ _ 

RECOMMENDATION: Unanimous Approval _______ 

_______ 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 48

mailto:ametz@oaklawn-il.gov/


THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Cook County, Illinois 

ORDINANCE 
NO. _____  

AN ORDINANCE FOR THE LEVY AND ASSESSMENT OF TAXES FOR THE  
TAX YEAR 2022 (COLLECTIBLE DURING THE FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING 

JANUARY 1, 2023 AND ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2023)  
FOR THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN,  

COUNTY OF COOK, STATE OF ILLINOIS 

TERRY VORDERER, President 
CLAIRE HENNING, Village Clerk 

TIM DESMOND 
ALEX G. OLEJNICZAK 

PAUL MALLO 
JAMES PEMBROKE 

WILLIAM R. STALKER 
RALPH SOCH 

Board of Trustees 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak Lawn 

Law Offices of Peterson, Johnson, & Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys 
200 W. Adams, Suite 2125, Chicago, IL  60606 

Item 8 M

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 49



VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Cook County, Illinois 

ORDINANCE NO. _____ 

ORDINANCE FOR THE LEVY AND ASSESSMENT OF TAXES FOR THE  
TAX YEAR 2022 (COLLECTIBLE DURING THE FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING 

JANUARY 1, 2023 AND ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2023) 
 FOR THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN,  

COUNTY OF COOK, STATE OF ILLINOIS 

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 
provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Oak Lawn, Cook County, Illinois, with a population in excess of 25,000 is, 
therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article VII, 
may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, 
including, but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and  

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak Lawn did on the 
13th day of December, 2022, pass the annual municipal budget for the said Village of Oak 
Lawn, Illinois for the fiscal year of said Village beginning on the 1st day of January, 2023 and 
ending on the 31st day of December, 2023 (“2023 fiscal year”) being Ordinance No. _________ 
which ordinance was duly published in pamphlet form; and 

WHEREAS, the detail support for all budgets as shown in Ordinance No. _________ and 
subsequent amendments are public record and available for inspection; and 

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak Lawn believe and 
hereby declare that it is in the best interest of the Village and its residents to levy and assess 
certain taxes for tax year 2022 pursuant to this Ordinance; and  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE VILLAGE PRESIDENT AND 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, 
IN THE EXERCISE OF ITS HOME RULE POWERS, AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1: The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as findings of fact as if 
said recitals were fully set forth herein. 

SECTION 2: That the total amount of appropriations for all corporate purposes legally made to 
be collected from the 2022 tax levy for the 2023 fiscal year is hereby ascertained to be the sum 
of Twenty Million Eighty-Four Thousand One Hundred and Eleven Dollars and 00/100 
($20,084,111). 

SECTION 3: That the sum Twenty Million Eighty-Four Thousand One Hundred and Eleven 
Dollars and 00/100 ($20,084,111) being the total of appropriations heretofore legally made 
which are to be collected from the 2022 tax levy for the 2023 fiscal year of the Village of Oak 
Lawn for all corporate purposes of said Village of Oak Lawn, for purpose of providing for a 
Police Pension Fund, Fire Pension Fund, General Corporate Fund, Corporate Bond and Interest 
Fund and Public Library Fund and other Village funds, as appropriated for in the 2023 fiscal year 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 50



by the annual Municipal budget ordinance of the Village of Oak Lawn, passed by the President 
and Board of Trustees of said Village at the legally convened meeting of December 13th, 2022 
be, and the same is hereby levied upon all of the taxable property in the Village of Oak Lawn 
subject to taxation for the 2022 tax year, the specific amounts as levied for the various funds 
heretofore named being included herein by being placed in separate columns under the heading 
“To Be Raised by Tax Levy” which appears over the same, the tax so levied being for the fiscal 
year of said Village, and for the said levy, the total of which had been ascertained as aforesaid 
and being as follows: 

SECTION 4: That the total amount of Twenty Million Eighty-Four Thousand One Hundred and 
Eleven Dollars and 00/100 ($20,084,111) ascertained above, be and is hereby levied and 
assessed on all property subject to taxation within the Village of Oak Lawn according to the 
value of said property as assessed and equalized for state and county purposes for 2023 fiscal 
year. 

SECTION 5: That this Levy Ordinance is adopted pursuant to the procedures set forth in the 
Illinois Municipal Code; provided, however, any tax rate limitation or other substantive 
limitation as to tax levies in the Illinois Municipal Code in conflict with this Ordinance shall not 
be applicable to this Ordinance pursuant to Section VI of Article 7 of the Constitution of the 
State of Illinois. 

SECTION 6: That there is hereby certified to the County Clerk of Cook County, Illinois, the 
several sums above, constituting said total amount, and the total amount of Twenty Million 
Eighty-Four Thousand One Hundred and Eleven Dollars and 00/100 ($20,084,111), which total 
amount the Village of Oak Lawn requires to be raised by taxation for the 2023 fiscal year of the 
Village, and the Village Clerk of the Village is hereby ordered and directed to file with the 
County Clerk of the County on or before the time required by law, a certified copy of this 
Ordinance. 

SECTION 7: Any policy, resolution, or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the 
provisions of this Ordinance shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

SECTION 8: This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and 
approval in the manner provided by law.   

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 51



PASSED THIS 13th day of December, 2022. 

AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

APPROVED THIS 13th day of December, 2022. 

____________________________________ 
               VILLAGE PRESIDENT 

ATTEST: 

____________________________________ 
VILLAGE CLERK  

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 52



CERTIFICATION OF COMPLIANCE WITH TRUTH IN TAXATION 
IN ACCORDANCE WITH CHAPTER 35 SECTIONS 200/18-55 

THROUGH 200/18-100 ILLINOIS COMPILED STATUTES 

I, TERRY VORDERER, herby certify to the Cook County Clerk that the Village Of Oak Lawn 
complied with all provisions of Truth in Taxation, as amended, with respect to the adoption of the 2022 
tax levy. 

     X     The Village levied an amount of ad valorem tax that is less than or equal to 105% of the 
final aggregate extension plus any amount abated prior to extension for the preceding 
year, therefore the publication and hearing provisions of Truth in Taxation are 
inapplicable. 

______ The Village levied an amount of ad valorem tax that is greater than 105% of the final 
aggregate extension plus any amount abated prior to extension for the preceding year, 
therefore, the publication and hearing provisions of Truth in Taxation are applicable and 
have been met.   

____________________________________ 
Village President 
Village of Oak Lawn 
Cook County, Illinois 

12/13/2022   
Date 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 53



TOTAL
APPROPRIATION

ESTIMATED 
RECEIPTS FROM
SOURCES OTHER 
THAN TAX LEVY

TO BE RAISED BY
TAX LEVY

GENERAL CORPORATE PURPOSES SUMMARY

President and the Board of Trustees 844,057$ 734,336$  109,721$  
Legal Services 696,000 605,525 90,475 
Community Services 114,908 99,971 14,937 
Management Information Services 1,368,393 1,190,511 177,882 
Human Resources 547,249 476,111 71,138 
Finance & Administrative Services 3,146,273 2,737,281 408,992 
Police Department 24,829,296 21,601,676 3,227,620 
Fire Department 20,569,414 17,895,545 2,673,869 
Building Department 1,117,572 972,296 145,276 
Public Works - Streets Division 4,481,983 3,899,359 582,624 
Public Works - Equipment Maintenance Division 2,307,177 2,007,262 299,915 
Public Works - Property Maintenance Division 1,465,177 1,274,715 190,462 
Capital Financing Costs, Retiree Medical Benefits and Tax Rebates 6,487,667 5,644,319 843,348 
Refuse Department 4,307,384 4,307,384 -
Special Events Department 310,000 310,000 -

TOTAL GENERAL CORPORATE PURPOSES 72,592,550$               63,756,291$  8,836,259$               

2021 Tax Levy 2022 Tax Levy
Village of Oak Lawn Overall EAV - Basis for the 2022 Tax Levy collected in 2023 Fiscal Year. 1,211,273,708$             1,241,555,551$       
Tentative 2022 Tax Levy Rate 1.1942% 1.1651%

Total Village Levy 14,465,507$  14,465,486$             

IMRF Levy - -
Police Pension Fund Levy 2,600,000 2,600,000 

Firefighters Pension Fund Levy 2,600,000 2,600,000 
Corporate Debt Service 428,208 429,227 
Total General Fund Levy 8,837,299$  8,836,259$              

Total Public Library Levy 5,508,456 5,618,625 

TOTAL  LEVY 19,973,963$  20,084,111$             

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 54



TOTAL
APPROPRIATION

ESTIMATED 
RECEIPTS FROM
SOURCES OTHER 
THAN TAX LEVY

TO BE RAISED BY
TAX LEVY

SPECIAL CORPORATE PURPOSES SUMMARY:

Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund (Fund no longer in existance, merged with General Fund) 409,833$  409,833$  -$  

Police Pension Fund 6,180,000 3,580,000 2,600,000 

Firefighters Pension Fund 5,560,000 2,960,000 2,600,000 
Public Library Fund 5,975,625 357,000 5,618,625 

TOTAL SPECIAL CORPORATE PURPOSES 18,125,458$  7,306,833$  10,818,625$               

CORPORATE FUND DEBT SERVICE:

GO Corporate Purpose Bonds, Series 2009 A * 590,273 161,046 429,227 

2010A Capital BAB Bonds * 2,542,835 2,542,835 - 
GO Corporate Purpose Bonds, Series 2015 (Refunding 2004, 2004A, 2005A, 2005B & 2005C Bonds)  * 800,800 800,800 - 

GO Refunding Bonds, Series 2017A * 1,931,208 1,931,208 - 

GO Refunding Bonds, Series 2017B * 82,400 82,400 - 

GO Bonds, Series 2022A 1,557,375 1,557,375 - 

GO Corporate Purpose Bonds, Series 2006 (Water Fund) * 325,990 325,990 - 

GO Corporate Purpose Bonds, Series 2011A (Water Fund) * 419,353 419,353 - 

Senior Lien Water Revenue Bonds, Series 2022 771,400 771,400 - 
Waterworks and Sewerage Revenue Bonds, Series 2019 * 406,657 406,657 - 

TOTAL CORPORATE FUND BOND PRINCIPLE & INTEREST* 9,428,291 8,999,064 429,227 

Capital Note 2013 (General Fund) ** 266,304 266,304 - 

Capital Note 2018 (General Fund) ** 207,024 207,024 - 

Capital Note 2021 (General Fund) ** 151,752 151,752 - 

Capital Note 2018 (Water & Sewer Fund) ** 133,347 133,347 - 

Capital Note 2021 (Water & Sewer Fund) ** 48,156 48,156 - 
2019 Master Lease ** 647,209 647,209 - 

1,453,792 1,453,792 - 

TOTAL CORPORATE FUND DEBT SERVICE 10,882,083$  10,452,856$               429,227$  

VOL SPECIAL SERVICE AREA #2001-1 
VOL Spec Svc Area No. 2012 Ad Valorem Bonds, (Refunding Series 2002) (95th & Pulaski SSA) *** 360,311$  318,132$  42,179$  

***Included for informational purposes only.  Specail Service Area #2001-1 levy was filed with the County at the time debt was assumed.

*Included for informational purposes only.  Corporate Fund Bond and Interest levies were filed with the County at the time debt was assumed.

**Included for informational purposes only.

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 55



DESCRIPTION
TOTAL

APPROPRIATION

ESTIMATED 
RECEIPTS FROM
SOURCES OTHER 
THAN TAX LEVY

TO BE RAISED BY
TAX LEVY

OFFICE OF THE PRESIDENT & THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES:

PERSONNEL 703,715$  612,237$  91,478$  

CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 120,792$  105,090$  15,702$  

COMMODITIES 19,550$  17,009$  2,541$  

TOTAL PRESIDENT & BOARD OF TRUSTEES 844,057$  734,336$  109,721$  

LEGAL SERVICES:

CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 696,000$  605,525$  90,475$  

TOTAL LEGAL SERVICES 696,000$  605,525$  90,475$  

COMMUNITY SERVICES:

PERSONNEL 21,508$  18,712$  2,796$  

CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 73,400$  63,859$  9,541$  

COMMODITIES 20,000$  17,400$  2,600$  

TOTAL COMMUNITY SERVICES 114,908$  99,971$  14,937$  

MANAGEMENT INFORMATION SERVICES:

PERSONNEL 260,086$  226,277$  33,809$  

CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 906,818$  788,938$  117,880$  

COMMODITIES 193,500$  168,346$  25,154$  

CAPITAL -$  -$  -$  

TRANSFERS 7,989$  6,950$  1,039$  

TOTAL MANAGEMENT INFORMATION SERVICES 1,368,393$              1,190,511$  177,882$  

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 56



DESCRIPTION
TOTAL

APPROPRIATION

ESTIMATED 
RECEIPTS FROM
SOURCES OTHER 
THAN TAX LEVY

TO BE RAISED BY
TAX LEVY

HUMAN RESOURCES:

PERSONNEL 355,505$  309,292$  46,213$  

CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 190,719$  165,927$  24,792$  

COMMODITIES 1,025$  892$  133$  

TOTAL HUMAN RESOURCES 547,249$  476,111$  71,138$  

DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES:

PERSONNEL 805,958$  701,190$  104,768$  

CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 2,281,315$              1,984,761$  296,554$  

COMMODITIES 59,000$  51,330$  7,670$  

TRANSFERS -$  -$ -$  

TOTAL FINANCE & ADMINISTRATIVE. SERVICES 3,146,273$              2,737,281$  408,992$  

POLICE DEPARTMENT:

PERSONNEL 23,642,346$            20,569,020$               3,073,326$  

CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 1,045,078$              909,226$  135,852$  

COMMODITIES 96,600$  84,043$  12,557$  

CAPITAL -$  -$  -$  

TRANSFERS 45,272$  39,387$  5,885$  

TOTAL POLICE DEPARTMENT 24,829,296$            21,601,676$               3,227,620$  

FIRE DEPARTMENT:

PERSONNEL 18,136,971$            15,779,302$               2,357,669$  

CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 2,232,950$              1,942,683$  290,267$  

COMMODITIES 162,200$  141,115$  21,085$  

CAPITAL 8,000$  6,960$  1,040$  

TRANSFERS 29,293$  25,485$  3,808$  

TOTAL FIRE DEPARTMENT 20,569,414$            17,895,545$               2,673,869$  

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 57



DESCRIPTION
TOTAL

APPROPRIATION

ESTIMATED 
RECEIPTS FROM
SOURCES OTHER 
THAN TAX LEVY

TO BE RAISED BY
TAX LEVY

BUILDING DEPARTMENT:

PERSONNEL 859,372$  747,660$  111,712$  

CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 246,750$  214,674$  32,076$  

COMMODITIES 11,450$  9,962$  1,488$  

TOTAL BUILDING DEPARTMENT\ 1,117,572$              972,296$  145,276$  

PUBLIC WORKS - STREET DIVISION:

PERSONNEL 2,939,377$              2,557,280$                382,097$  

CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 952,490$  828,673$  123,817$  

COMMODITIES 460,175$  400,356$  59,819$  

CAPITAL 50,050$  43,544$  6,506$  

TRANSFERS 79,891$  69,506$  10,385$  

TOTAL PUBLIC WORKS - STREET DIVISION 4,481,983$              3,899,359$                582,624$  

PUBLIC WORKS - EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE DIVISION:

PERSONAL SERVICES 1,228,728$              1,069,003$                159,725$  

CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 561,005$  488,079$  72,926$  

COMMODITIES 514,781$  447,863$  66,918$  

CAPITAL -$  -$  -$  

TRANSFERS 2,663$  2,317$  346$  

TOTAL PUBLIC WORKS - EQUIP. MAINTENANCE DIVISION 2,307,177$              2,007,262$                299,915$  

PUBLIC WORKS - PROPERTY MAINTENANCE DIVISION:

PERSONNEL 577,781$  502,674$  75,107$  

CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 752,800$  654,942$  97,858$  

COMMODITIES 33,400$  29,058$  4,342$  

TRANSFERS 101,196$  88,041$  13,155$  

TOTAL PUBLIC WORKS - PROPERTY MAINTENANCE DIVISION 1,465,177$              1,274,715$                190,462$  

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 58



DESCRIPTION
TOTAL

APPROPRIATION

ESTIMATED 
RECEIPTS FROM
SOURCES OTHER 
THAN TAX LEVY

TO BE RAISED BY
TAX LEVY

CAPITAL FINANCING COSTS, RETIREE BENEFITS & TAX REBATES:

CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 3,549,650$              3,088,222$  461,428$  

CAPITAL 2,856,275$              2,484,981$  371,294$  

TRANSFERS 81,742$  71,116$  10,626$  

TOTAL CAPITAL COSTS, BENEFITS & TAX REBATES 6,487,667$             5,644,319$  843,348$

REFUSE DEPARTMENT:

CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 4,302,884$              4,302,884$  -$  

COMMODITIES 4,500 4,500 - 

TRANSFERS - - - 

TOTAL REFUSE DEPARTMENT 4,307,384$              4,307,384$  -$  

SPECIAL EVENTS DEPARTMENT
REVENUE 310,000$  310,000$  -$  

PERSONNEL 8,500 8,500 - 

CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 219,300 219,300 - 

COMMODITIES 82,200 82,200 - 

TOTAL SPECIAL EVENTS 310,000$  310,000$  -$  

TOTAL GENERAL FUND 72,592,550$            63,756,291$  8,836,259$  

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 59



PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND:

DESCRIPTION
TOTAL

APPROPRIATION

ESTIMATED 
RECEIPTS FROM
SOURCES OTHER 
THAN TAX LEVY

TO BE RAISED BY
TAX LEVY

PERSONNEL
Librarians 1,406,681$              84,039 1,322,642$  
Library Support Staff 1,537,433 91,850 1,445,583 
Custodians / Maintenance 228,022 13,623 214,399 
Unemployment 5,000 299 4,701 
IMRF 178,361 10,656 167,705 
FICA 242,668 14,498 228,170 
Group Insurance 840,000 50,184 789,816 

TOTAL 4,438,165$             265,148$ 4,173,017$

CONTRACTUAL SERVICES
Professional Services 153,200$  9,153 144,047$  
Utilities 21,000 1,255 19,745 
Building Maintenance/Equipment 12,000 717 11,283 
Insurance 80,000 4,779 75,221 
Dues/Meetings/Training/Staff 38,000 2,270 35,730 
Marketing/Publicity 20,410 1,219 19,191 
Programming 35,000 2,091 32,909 

TOTAL 359,610$  21,484$  338,126$  

COMMODITIES
New books 180,000$  10,754 169,246$  
Periodicals & Newspapers 27,500 1,643 25,857 
Audio-Visual 63,000 3,764 59,236 
REALIA 3,000 179 2,821 
Technology Devices 15,000 896 14,104 
Databases 119,000 7,109 111,891 
Digital Materials 92,500 5,526 86,974 
Supplies 80,000 4,779 75,221 
Copier/Microfilm/RFID Maintenance 35,400 2,115 33,285 
Vehicle Maintenance 1,200 72 1,128 

Computer Software 35,000 2,091 32,909 
Web products 50,000 2,987 47,013 
Printing/Newsletter 64,000 3,824 60,176 
Postage 19,250 1,150 18,100 
Shipping and Processing 30,000 1,792 28,208 
Telephone 7,000 418 6,582 
Internet Access 35,000 2,091 32,909 
SWAN System Fees 70,000 4,182 65,818 
Local History 10,000 597 9,403 

TOTAL 936,850$  55,970$  880,880$  

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES
Building/Repair 161,000$  9,619 151,381$  
Computer Equipment 80,000 4,779 75,221 

TOTAL 241,000$  14,398$  226,602$  

TOTAL PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND & DEBT LEVY 5,975,625$              357,000$  5,618,625$  

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 60



DESCRIPTION
TOTAL

APPROPRIATION

ESTIMATED 
RECEIPTS FROM
SOURCES OTHER 
THAN TAX LEVY

TO BE RAISED BY
TAX LEVY

ILLINOIS MUNICIPAL RETIREMENT FUND:

CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 409,833$  409,833$  -$  

TOTAL ILLINOIS MUNICIPAL RETIREMENT FUND 409,833$  409,833$  -$  

POLICE PENSION FUND:

CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 6,180,000$              3,580,000$               2,600,000$  

TOTAL POLICE PENSION FUND 6,180,000$              3,580,000$               2,600,000$  

FIRE PENSION FUND:

CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 5,560,000$              2,960,000$               2,600,000$  

TOTAL FIRE PENSION FUND 5,560,000$              2,960,000$               2,600,000$  

TOTAL SPECIAL CORPORATE PURPOSE 18,125,458$            7,306,833$               10,818,625$              

CORPORATE FUND DEBT SERVICE:

CORPORATE FUND BOND & INTEREST:
GO Corporate Purpose Bonds, Series 2009A * 590,273$  161,046$ 429,227$
2010A Capital BAB Bonds* 2,542,835 2,542,835 - 
GO Corporate Purpose Bonds, Series 2015 (Refunding 2004, 2004A, 2005A, 2005B & 2005C Bonds) * 800,800 800,800 - 
GO Refunding Bonds, Series 2017A 1,931,208 1,931,208 - 
GO Refunding Bonds, Series 2017B 82,400 82,400 - 
GO Bonds, Series 2022A 1,557,375 1,557,375 - 
GO Corporate Purpose Bonds, Series 2006 (Water Fund) * 325,990 325,990 - 
GO Corporate Purpose Bonds, Series 2011A (Water Fund) * 419,353 419,353 - 
Senior Lien Water Revenue Bonds, Series 2022 771,400 771,400 - 
Waterworks and Sewerage Revenue Bonds, Series 2019 * 406,657 406,657 - 

TOTAL CORPORATE FUND BOND & INTEREST 9,428,291 8,999,064 429,227

Capital Note 2013 (General Fund) ** 266,304 266,304 - 
Capital Note 2018 (General Fund) ** 207,024 207,024 - 
Capital Note 2021 (General Fund) ** 151,752 151,752 - 
Capital Note 2018 (Water & Sewer Fund) ** 133,347 133,347 - 
Capital Note 2021 (Water & Sewer Fund) ** 48,156 48,156 - 
2019 Master Lease ** 647,209 647,209 - 

1,453,792$              1,453,792$               -$  

TOTAL CORPORATE FUND DEBT SERVICE* 10,882,083$            10,452,856$             429,227$  

VOL SPECIAL SERVICE AREA #2001-1 
VOL Spec Svc Area No. 2012 Ad Valorem Bonds, (Refunding Series 2002) (95th & Pulaski SSA) *** 360,311$  318,132$  42,179$  

*Included for informational purposes only.  Corporate Fund Bond and Interest levies were filed with the County at the time debt was assumed.

***Included for informational purposes only.  Specail Service Area #2001-1 levy was filed with the County at the time debt was assumed.

**Included for informational purposes only.

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 61



DESCRIPTION
TOTAL

APPROPRIATION

ESTIMATED 
RECEIPTS FROM
SOURCES OTHER 
THAN TAX LEVY

TO BE RAISED BY
TAX LEVY

ENTERPRISE FUNDS:

OLREC FUND
PERSONNEL 3,634,445$              3,634,445$               -$  
CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 1,000,173 1,000,173 - 
COMMODITIES 51,700 51,700 - 
CAPITAL EXPENDITURES - - - 
OTHER FINANCING USES - - -                                 

TOTAL OLREC FUND 4,686,318$              4,686,318$               -$  

COMMUTER PARKING LOT FUND:

CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 96,412$  96,412$ -$  
COMMODITIES 1,000 1,000 -$  
CAPITAL EXPENDITURES - - - 
TRANSFERS 150,000 150,000 - 

TOTAL COMMUTER PARKING LOT FUND 247,412$  247,412$  -$  

WATER & SEWER FUND - WATER DIVISION:

PERSONNEL 2,402,806$              2,402,806$               -$  
CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 22,601,415              22,601,415 - 
COMMODITIES 47,443,835              47,443,835 - 
CAPITAL EXPENDITURES 225,282 225,282 - 
TRANSFERS 2,339,806 2,339,806 - 

TOTAL WATER & SEWER FUND - WATER DIVISION 75,013,144$            75,013,144$             -$  

WATER & SEWER FUND - SEWER  DIVISION:

PERSONNEL 1,835,940$              1,835,940$               -$  
CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 1,286,335 1,286,335 - 
COMMODITIES 1,280,700 1,280,700 - 
CAPITAL EXPENDITURES 63,000 63,000 - 
TRANSFERS 48,494 48,494 - 

TOTAL WATER & SEWER FUND - SEWER DIVISION 4,514,469$              4,514,469$               -$  

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 62



TOTAL
APPROPRIATION

ESTIMATED 
RECEIPTS FROM
SOURCES OTHER 
THAN TAX LEVY

TO BE RAISED BY
TAX LEVY

GENERAL CORPORATE PURPOSES SUMMARY

President and Board of Trustees 844,057$  734,336$ 109,721$  
Legal Services 696,000 605,525 90,475 
Fair Housing Commission - - - 
Community Services 114,908 99,971 14,937 
Management Information Services 1,368,393 1,190,511 177,882 
Human Resources 547,249 476,111 71,138 
Finance & Administrative Services 3,146,273 2,737,281 408,992 
Police Department 24,829,296               21,601,676 3,227,620 
Fire Department 20,569,414               17,895,545 2,673,869 
Building Department 1,117,572 972,296 145,276 
Public Works - Streets Division 4,481,983 3,899,359 582,624 
Public Works - Equipment Maintenance Division 2,307,177 2,007,262 299,915 
Public Works - Property Maintenance Division 1,465,177 1,274,715 190,462 
Capital Financing Costs, Retiree Medical Benefits and Tax Rebates 6,487,667 5,644,319 843,348 
Refuse 4,307,384 4,307,384 - 
Special Events 310,000 310,000 - 

TOTAL GENERAL CORPORATE PURPOSES 72,592,550$             63,756,291$               8,836,259$  

Enterprise & Special Funds 84,461,343$             84,461,343$               -$  

Special Corporate Purpose Funds:
IMRF Employees Levy 409,833 409,833 - 
Police Pension Fund Levy 6,180,000 3,580,000 2,600,000 
Firefighters Pension Fund Levy 5,560,000 2,960,000 2,600,000 
Corporate Fund Debt Service 10,882,083               10,452,856 429,227 

General Fund Levy 14,465,486$               

Public Library Levy 5,975,625$               357,000$ 5,618,625$  

TOTAL VILLAGE TAX LEVY 20,084,111$               

RECAP BY FUND
RECAPITULATION AND SUMMARY

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 63



STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
) SS. 

COUNTY OF COOK  ) 

CERTIFICATE 

I, TERRY VORDERER, do hereby certify that I am the duly qualified and acting Village 
President of the Village of Oak Lawn, in the county and state aforesaid. 

I further certify that the foregoing is a full, true and complete copy of the Tax Levy 
Ordinance No. _________ adopted by this Board of Trustees on the 13th day of December, 
2022. 

I do further certify that said Levy Ordinance was passed, approved and adopted in strict 
accordance with the provisions of the “Truth in Taxation Act,” effective July 29, 1981, as 
amended, and that said Board of Trustees has complied with all of the applicable provisions of 
said Act. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I hereunto affix my official signature as President of the 
Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak Lawn, Cook County, Illinois, this 13th day of 
December, 2022. 

______________________________ 
Village President 
Village of Oak Lawn 
Cook County, Illinois 

(SEAL) 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 64



STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
) SS. 

COUNTY OF COOK  ) 

CERTIFICATE 

I, CLAIRE HENNING, do hereby certify that I am the duly qualified and acting Village 
Clerk of the Village of Oak Lawn, County of Cook and State of Illinois, and as such am the 
keeper of the records and files of the Village of Oak Lawn, Illinois. 

I further certify that the foregoing is a full, true and complete transcript of that portion of 
the minutes of the regular meeting of said Board of Trustees held on the 13th day of December, 
2022, insofar as some relate to the approval of the following: 

ORDINANCE FOR THE LEVY AND ASSESSMENT OF TAXES FOR THE  
TAX YEAR 2022 (COLLECTIBLE DURING THE FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING 

JANUARY 1, 2023 AND ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2023) 
FOR THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN,  

COUNTY OF COOK, STATE OF ILLINOIS 

a true and correct copy of which appears in the foregoing transcript of the minutes of said 
meeting. 

I do further certify that the deliberations of the members of the Board of Trustees on the 
adoption of said Ordinance were taken openly; that said meeting was held at a specified time and 
place convenient to the public; that notice of said meeting was duly given to all newspapers, 
radio or televisions stations, and other news media requesting such notice; that said meeting was 
called and held in strict accordance with the provisions of “an act in Relation to Meetings” 
approved July 11, 1957, as amended, and the said Board of Trustees has complied with all of the 
applicable provisions of said Act. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 
the Village of Oak Lawn this 13th day of December 2022. 

__________________________________________ 
          CLAIRE HENNING, VILLAGE CLERK  

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 65



VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Board of Trustees Meeting 

AGENDA ITEM SUBMISSION SHEET 

Meeting Date:  12/13/2022 Agenda Item Number: __8 N_________ 
(Clerk’s Office will insert) 

Department:  Finance Staff Contact:   Adam Metz 

Staff Contact email/phone number: ametz@oaklawn-il.gov/ 708-499-7062 

SUMMARY:    _Approval of the Village Tax Levy Debt Abatement for the 2022 Tax Year  

(Collectible during the 2023 Fiscal Year).________________________________________________  

BACKGROUND:  The 2022 Tax Levy Debt Abatement represents a critical component of filing the  

2022 Tax Levy.  The 2023 Village Budget was reviewed with the Village Board at the November    

10, 2022 Village Budget Workshop #1.  Village Management respectfully requests separate approval of  _  

the 2022 Tax Levy Debt Abatement as part of the approval of the balanced 2023 municipal budget 

 Presented to the Village Board.

RECOMMENDATION: Unanimous Approval ______ 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 66

mailto:ametz@oaklawn-il.gov/


THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Cook County, Illinois 

ORDINANCE 
NO. _____  

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING ABATEMENT OF THE TAX LEVY FOR 
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS - SERIES 2009A, TAXABLE GENERAL 

OBLIGATION BONDS - SERIES 2010A (BUILD AMERICA BONDS – DIRECT 
PAYMENT), GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING BONDS - SERIES 2015, 
TAXABLE GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING BONDS - SERIES 2017A, 
GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING BONDS – SERIES 2017B, GENERAL 
OBLIGATION CORPORATE PURPOSE BONDS – SERIES 2022A, GENERAL 

OBLIGATION CORPORATE PURPOSE BONDS - SERIES 2006 (WATER FUND), 
GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING BONDS – SERIES 2011A (WATER FUND), 
WATERWORKS AND SEWERAGE REVENUE BONDS – SERIES 2019 and SENIOR 

LIEN WATER REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2022 (WATER FUND) FOR THE VILLAGE 
OF OAK LAWN, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

TERRY VORDERER, President 
CLAIRE HENNING, Village Clerk 

TIM DESMOND 
ALEX G. OLEJNICZAK 

PAUL MALLO 
JAMES PEMBROKE 

WILLIAM R. STALKER 
RALPH SOCH 

Board of Trustees 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak Lawn 

Law Offices of Peterson, Johnson, & Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys 
200 W. Adams, Suite 2125 Chicago, IL  60606 

Item 8 N

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 67



VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Cook County, Illinois 

ORDINANCE NO. _____ 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING ABATEMENT OF THE TAX LEVY FOR 
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS - SERIES 2009A, TAXABLE GENERAL 

OBLIGATION BONDS - SERIES 2010A (BUILD AMERICA BONDS – DIRECT 
PAYMENT), GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING BONDS - SERIES 2015, 
TAXABLE GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING BONDS - SERIES 2017A, 
GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING BONDS – SERIES 2017B, GENERAL 
OBLIGATION CORPORATE PURPOSE BONDS – SERIES 2022A, GENERAL 

OBLIGATION CORPORATE PURPOSE BONDS - SERIES 2006 (WATER FUND), 
GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING BONDS – SERIES 2011A (WATER FUND), 
WATERWORKS AND SEWERAGE REVENUE BONDS – SERIES 2019 and SENIOR 

LIEN WATER REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2022 (WATER FUND) FOR THE VILLAGE 
OF OAK LAWN, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 
provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Oak Lawn, Cook County, Illinois, with a population in excess of 25,000 is, 
therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article VII, 
may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, 
including, but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and 

WHEREAS, the Village President and Board of Trustees of the Village have deemed it to 
be in the best interest of the Village that certain taxes heretofore levied as hereinafter provided, 
be abated.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE VILLAGE PRESIDENT AND 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, 
IN THE EXERCISE OF ITS HOME RULE POWERS, AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1: Abatement of Tax.  The taxes levied by Cook County for the debt service 
requirement of Taxable General Obligation Bonds – Series 2010A (Build America Bonds – 
Direct Payment) in the amount of Two Million Five Hundred Forty-Two Thousand Eight 
Hundred and Thirty-Four Dollars ($2,542,835), General Obligation Refunding Bonds – Series 
2015 in the amount of Eight Hundred Thousand Eight Hundred Dollars ($800,800), Taxable 
General Obligation Refunding Bonds – Series 2017A in the amount of One Million Nine 
Hundred Thirty-One Thousand Two Hundred and Eight Dollars ($1,931,208),General Obligation 
Refunding bonds – Series 2017B in the amount of Eighty-Two Thousand Four Hundred Dollars 
($82,400), General Obligation Corporate Purpose Bonds – Series 2022A in the amount of One 
Million Five Hundred Fifty-Seven Thousand Three Hundred and Seventy-Five Dollars 
($1,557,375) General Obligation Corporate Purpose Bonds – Series 2006 (Water Fund) in the 
amount of Three Hundred Twenty-Five Thousand Nine Hundred and Ninety Dollars ($325,990), 
General Obligation Refunding Bonds – Series 2011A (Water Fund) in the amount of Four 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 68



Hundred Nineteen Thousand Three Hundred and Fifty-Three Dollars ($419,353), Waterworks 
and Sewerage Revenue Bonds – Series 2019 in the amount of Four Hundred Six Thousand Six 
Hundred and Fifty-Seven Dollars ($406,657), Senior Lien Water Revenue Bonds - Series 2022 
(Water Fund) in the amount of Seven Hundred Seventy-One Thousand Four Hundred Dollars 
($771,400), for the Village of Cook County are hereby abated in their entirety.  The taxes levied 
by Cook County for the debt service requirement of General Obligation Bonds – Series 2009A in 
the amount of Five Hundred Ninety Thousand Two Hundred Seventy-Three Dollars ($590,273) 
are hereby partially abated by reducing the levy therefor by the amount of One Hundred Sixty-
One Thousand and Forty-Six Dollars ($161,046), with the amount of Four Hundred Twenty Nine 
Thousand Two Hundred Twenty-Seven Dollars ($429,227) being levied therefor. 

 One Hundred Sixty-One Thousand and Forty-Six Dollars ($161,046), for the Village of Cook 
County are hereby partially abated. 

SECTION 2: Filing of Ordinance.  Upon adoption of this Ordinance, the Village Clerk shall 
file a certified copy hereof with the Clerk of Cook County, Illinois, and it shall be the duty of 
said County Clerk to abate said tax levied for the fiscal year commencing January 1, 2023 and 
ending December 31, 2023 in accordance with the provisions above. 

SECTION 3: Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect upon its passage 
by the Village Board and signing and approval by the Village President. 

SECTION 4: Severability.  If any section, paragraph or provision of this ordinance shall be 
held to be invalid or unenforceable for any reason, the invalidity or unenforceability of such 
section, paragraph or provision shall not affect any of the remaining provisions of this 
Ordinance. 

SECTION 5: Repeal.  All ordinances, resolutions, motions or parts thereof in conflict herewith 
shall be and the same herby repealed. 

SECTION 6:  Publication.  This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect forthwith upon its 
adoption, approval and publication in pamphlet form as provided by law. 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 69



PASSED THIS 13th day of December, 2022. 

AYES: 

NAYS:  

ABSENT:  

APPROVED THIS 13th day of December, 2022. 

____________________________________ 
               VILLAGE PRESIDENT 

ATTEST: 

___________________________________ 
VILLAGE CLERK  

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 70



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 71



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 72



STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
) SS. 

COUNTY OF COOK  ) 

CERTIFICATE 

I, CLAIRE HENNING, Village Clerk of the Village of Oak Lawn, County of Cook and 

State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of 

Ordinance No. _____, “AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING ABATEMENT OF THE TAX 

LEVY FOR GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS – SERIES 2009A, TAXABLE GENERAL 

OBLIGATION BONDS – SERIES 2010A (BUILD AMERICA BONDS – DIRECT 

PAYMENT), GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING BONDS – SERIES 2015, TAXABLE 

GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING BONDS – SERIES 2017A, GENERAL 

OBLIGATION REFUNDING BONDS – SERIES 2017B, GENERAL OBLIGATION 

CORPORATE PURPOSE BONDS – SERIES 2022A, GENERAL OBLIGATION 

CORPORATE PURPOSE BONDS – SERIES 2006 (WATER FUND), GENERAL 

OBLIGATION REFUNDING BONDS – SERIES 2011A (WATER FUND), WATERWORKS 

AND SEWERAGE REVENUE BONDS – SERIES 2019 and SENIOR LIEN WATER 

REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2022 (WATER FUND) FOR THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN, 

COOK COUNTY ILLINOIS,” which was adopted by the President and Board of Trustees of the 

Village of Oak Lawn on December 13, 2022. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Oak Lawn this 13th day of December 2022. 

____________________________________ 
    CLAIRE HENNING, VILLAGE CLERK  

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 73



VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Board of Trustees Meeting 

AGENDA ITEM SUBMISSION SHEET 

Meeting Date:  12/13/2022 Agenda Item Number: ____8 O_______ 
(Clerk’s Office will insert) 

Department:  Finance Staff Contact:   Adam Metz 

Staff Contact email/phone number: ametz@oaklawn-il.gov/ 708-499-7062 

SUMMARY: _Approval of the 2023 Municipal Budget ________________________________  

______ 

BACKGROUND:  Village Management has met with various Village Staff to compile a balanced _  

budget which was presented to the Village Board on December 1st, 2022 Village Budget Workshop #2. 

Village management respectfully requests formal approval of the balanced budget presented before    

the Board as required by Illinois State Statute and which reflects Board directives and intiatives as well  

as any comments or suggestions to be implemented during the 2023 fiscal year.

RECOMMENDATION: Unanimous Approval ______ 

______ 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 74

mailto:ametz@oaklawn-il.gov/


THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Cook County, Illinois 

ORDINANCE 
NO. _____  

AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING THE 2023 
VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN MUNICIPAL BUDGET 

TERRY VORDERER, President 
CLAIRE HENNING, Village Clerk 

TIM DESMOND 
ALEX G. OLEJNICZAK 

PAUL MALLO 
JAMES PEMBROKE 

WILLIAM R. STALKER 
RALPH SOCH 

Board of Trustees 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak Lawn 

Law Offices of Peterson, Johnson, & Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys 
200 W. Adams, Suite 2125 Chicago, IL  60606 

Item 8 O

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 75



VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Cook County, Illinois 

ORDINANCE NO. _____ 

AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING THE 2023 
VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN MUNICIPAL BUDGET 

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 
provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Oak Lawn, Cook County, Illinois, with a population in excess of 25,000 is, 
therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article VII, 
may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, 
including, but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and 

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak Lawn, pursuant to 
65 ILCS 5/8-2-1 et seq., have held the requisite public hearing and have informed the public of 
the opportunity to participate in said hearings and have given such interested parties the 
opportunity to make any statements or ask any questions regarding the proposed 2023 Municipal 
Budget; and  

WHEREAS, a copy of the proposed budget has been available for public inspection in 
the Director of Administrative Services’ Office and in the Village Clerk’s Office since December 
2nd, 2022; and  

WHEREAS, all due process provisions of 65 ILCS 5/8-2-1 et seq., entitled “Annual 
Appropriation Ordinances,” have been complied with; and  

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak Lawn believe and 
hereby declare that it is in the best interest of the Village and its residents to approve the 2023 
Municipal Budget; and  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE VILLAGE PRESIDENT AND 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, 
IN THE EXERCISE OF ITS HOME RULE POWERS, AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1: The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as findings of fact as if 
said recitals were fully set forth herein.  

SECTION 2: The President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak Lawn hereby declare 
and approve the 2023 Municipal Budget, attached hereto as Exhibit 1, for the 2023 fiscal year 
beginning on January 1, 2023, and ending on December 31, 2023.  

SECTION 3: Any policy, resolution or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the 
provisions of this Ordinance shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict.  

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 76



SECTION 4:  This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and 
approval in the manner provided by law.  

PASSED THIS 13th day of December, 2022. 

AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

APPROVED THIS 13th day of December, 2022. 

__________________________________________
VILLAGE PRESIDENT 

ATTEST: 

__________________________________ 
VILLAGE CLERK  

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 77



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 78



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 79



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 80



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 81



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 82



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 83



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 84



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 85



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 86



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 87



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 88



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 89



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 90



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 91



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 92



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 93



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 94



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 95



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 96



STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
) SS. 

COUNTY OF COOK  ) 

CERTIFICATE 

I, CLAIRE HENNING, Village Clerk of the Village of Oak Lawn, County of Cook and 

State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of 

Ordinance No. _____, “AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING THE 2023 VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 

MUNICIPAL BUDGET,” which was adopted by the President and Board of Trustees of the 

Village of Oak Lawn on December 13th, 2022. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Oak Lawn this 13th day of December, 2022. 

__________________________________________ 
          CLAIRE HENNING, VILLAGE CLERK  

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 97



STATE OF ILLINOIS  ) 
    ) SS 
COUNTY OF COOK  ) 

 
 

CERTIFICATE REGARDING THE ESTIMATE OF REVENUE BY SOURCE SIGNED BY THE 
CHIEF FISCAL OFFICER OF THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN FOR THE 

FISCAL YEAR 2023 BUDGET 
 

 I, Adam J. Metz, Finance Director of the Village of Oak Lawn, Cook County, Illinois, certify that 
the attached Estimate of Revenue by Source for the Fiscal Year 2023 Budget is true and correct and has 
been prepared in accordance with 65 ILCS 5/8-2-9.3, as amended, and as adopted by the Village of Oak 
Lawn Ordinance ___________ Adopting the 2023 Village of Oak Lawn Municipal Budget. 
 
Date: December 13th, 2022. 
 
 

______________________________________ 
 Adam J. Metz, Finance Director 

       Village of Oak Lawn

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 98



VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Board of Trustees Meeting 

AGENDA ITEM SUBMISSION SHEET 

Meeting Date: December 13, 2022___ Agenda Item Number: 
(Clerk’s Office will insert) 

Department: Finance 
Staff Contact:  Jerry Dillon / Adam Metz  
Staff Contact email/phone number:  jdillon@oaklawn-il.gov 708-499-7881 

SUMMARY  
Village Management is seeking BOT approval to provide additional funding to the Village’s Police and 
Fire Pension Funds above the approved 2022 budgeted amount.  The 2022 budget amount was established 
based on the Board approved 2019 Pension Funding Policy.   

Sales Tax and Income Tax revenues have outperformed budgeted expectations during the fiscal year.    
The additional revenues allow the Village with the opportunity to make the additional contributions.    
This action would be viewed favorably by both the Pension Boards and the Credit Rating Agencies.  
Additionally, taking this action in December will allow for funding while financial markets are down over 
17% for the year.    

The below table shows the 2022 budgeted pension funding, where the Village will meet the funding 
policy obligation, and the breakdown of the incremental funding.  The additional funding breakdown 
matches our current Pension Funding allocation breakdown. 

Approved Proposed
2022 Budget Add'l Funding

Police 5,760,000             1,040,000         
Fire 5,295,000             960,000            
   Total 11,055,000           2,000,000         

RECOMMENDATION 
Village Management recommends the Board approve this incremental Funding. 

8 P

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 99

mailto:jdillon@oaklawn-il.gov


THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Cook County, Illinois 

ORDINANCE 
NO. ______

AN ORDINANCE OF THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 
INCREASING THE 2022 BUDGET AMOUNT  

FOR THE POLICE AND FIRE PENSION FUNDS 

TERRY VORDERER, President 
CLAIRE HENNING, Village Clerk 

TIM DESMOND 
ALEX G. OLEJNICZAK 

PAUL MALLO 
JAMIE PEMBROKE 

WILLIAM R. STALKER 
RALPH SOCH 

Board of Trustees 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak Lawn 
Peterson, Johnson, and Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys 

200 W. Adams, Suite 2125, Chicago, IL  60606 

Item 8 P

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 100



VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Cook County, Illinois 

 
ORDINANCE NO.  ________ 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

INCREASING THE 2022 BUDGET AMOUNT  
FOR THE POLICE AND FIRE PENSION FUNDS 

 
WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 

provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Oak Lawn, Cook County, Illinois, with a population in excess of 25,000 is, 
therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article VII, may 
exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, including, 
but not limited to, the power to amend and increase budgeted amounts; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Village of Oak Lawn (“Village”) may transfer monies into various funds 
following approval of an annual budget, pursuant to 50 ILCS 330/1 et. al.; and 

 
WHEREAS, Sales Tax and Income Tax revenues have outperformed budgeted 

expectations during the fiscal year.  The additional revenues allow the Village with the opportunity 
to make the additional contributions.  This action would be viewed favorably by both the Pension 
Boards and the Credit Rating Agencies.  Additionally, taking this action in December will allow 
for funding while financial markets are down over 17% for the year; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Village desires to transfer additional monies into the Police and Fire 

Pension Fund; and 
 
WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees find that it is in the best interests of the 

citizens of the Village of Oak Lawn to transfer additional monies into the Police and Fire Pension 
Fund; and 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE VILLAGE PRESIDENT AND 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, 
IN THE EXERCISE OF ITS HOME RULE POWERS, AS FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1: The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as findings of fact as if 
said recitals were fully set forth herein.  
 
SECTION 2: A transfer of additional funds into the Village’s Police and Fire Pension Funds are 
hereby authorized and approved as follows: 
 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 101



   
 
 
SECTION 3: Any policy, resolution or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Ordinance shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict.   
 
SECTION 4: The Village’s 2022 budget and 2019 Pension Funding Policy are hereby amended 
to the extent required to implement this additional funding. 
 
SECTION 5: The Village President, Village Manager and their designees are hereby authorized 
to do any and all things deemed necessary to effectuate this funding increase as shall be desirable 
to carry out the intent and purposes of this Resolution, including the preambles to this Resolution 
 
SECTION 6: This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and 
approval in the manner provided by law.  
 
PASSED THIS ___ day of December, 2022. 
 
 
AYES: 
       
NAYS:              
 
ABSENT:             
 
 
APPROVED THIS ___ day of December, 2022.. 
 
 
 
 

              
       VILLAGE PRESIDENT 
 
 
ATTEST: 

 
 
___________________________________ 
VILLAGE CLERK  

Approved Proposed
2022 Budget Add'l Funding

Police 5,760,000             1,040,000         
Fire 5,295,000             960,000            
   Total 11,055,000           2,000,000         

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 102



STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
    ) SS. 
COUNTY OF COOK  ) 
 
 

CERTIFICATE 
 

 I, CLAIRE HENNING, Village Clerk of the Village of Oak Lawn, County of Cook and 

State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of Ordinance 

No.  _______ , “AN ORDINANCE OF THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN, COOK COUNTY, 

ILLINOIS INCREASING THE 2022 BUDGET AMOUNT FOR THE POLICE AND FIRE 

PENSION FUNDS,” which was adopted by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of 

Oak Lawn on this ___ day of December, 2022. 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of  
 
the Village of Oak Lawn this ___ day of December, 2022. 
 

 

 
 
 
       ____________________________________ 
       CLAIRE HENNING, VILLAGE CLERK  
 
 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 103



VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Board of Trustees Meeting 

AGENDA ITEM SUBMISSION SHEET 

Meeting Date:  Agenda Item Number: 
(Clerk’s Office will insert) 

Department:   Staff Contact:   

Staff Contact email/phone number: 

SUMMARY: 

BACKGROUND: 

RECOMMENDATION: 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 104



THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Cook County, Illinois 

RESOLUTION 
NO._____ 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING UPDATED MABAS (MUTUAL AID BOX ALARM 
SYSTEM) AGREEMENT TO MAINTAIN VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN’S ABILITY TO 

RECEIVE MUTUAL AID FOR LARGE EMERGENCY INCIDENTS 

TERRY VORDERER, President 
CLAIRE HENNING, Village Clerk 

TIM DESMOND 
ALEX G. OLEJNICZAK 

PAUL MALLO 
JAMIE PEMBROKE 

WILLIAM R. STALKER 
RALPH SOCH 

Board of Trustees 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak Lawn 
Peterson, Johnson, and Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys 

200 W. Adams, Suite 2125 Chicago, IL  60606 

Item 8 Q

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 105



VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Cook County, Illinois 

RESOLUTION NO. _____ 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING UPDATED MABAS (MUTUAL AID BOX ALARM 
SYSTEM) AGREEMENT TO MAINTAIN VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN’S ABILITY TO 

RECEIVE MUTUAL AID FOR LARGE EMERGENCY INCIDENTS 

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 
provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Oak Lawn, Cook County, Illinois, with a population in excess of 25,000 is, 
therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article VII, may 
exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, including, 
but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and 

WHEREAS, the Village of Oak Lawn (herein “Village”) previously entered into a master 
MABAS (Mutual Aid Box Alarm System) intergovernmental agreement in 1988 to coordinate 
responses to fires, emergency medical calls, hazardous materials, technical rescues and other 
emergencies and disasters through prearranged mutual aid and dispatch agreements; and 

WHEREAS, in October 2022, the MABAS (Mutua Aid Box Alarm System) Executive 
Board, a multi-state organization, approved a new MABAS (Mutua Aid Box Alarm System) 
agreement which will go into effect on January 1, 2023 at 12:01a.m. CST; and 

WHEREAS, the Village determined for the purposes of continuing to receive mutual aid 
from neighboring and regional departments necessary for larger incidents which exceed the 
resources of the Village of Oak Lawn Fire Department it should approve the updated MABAS 
(Mutua Aid Box Alarm System) agreement; and 

WHEREAS, it has been determined by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village 
of Oak Lawn that it is in the best interest of the Village and its residents that approve the updated 
MABAS (Mutua Aid Box Alarm System) Agreement to go into effect January 1, 2023, and 
authorize the Village President to execute the agreement, attached hereto as Exhibit 1; and,  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE VILLAGE PRESIDENT AND 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, 
IN THE EXERCISE OF ITS HOME RULE POWERS, AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1:  The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as findings of fact as if 
said recitals were fully set forth herein.  

SECTION 2: The President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak Lawn hereby authorize 
the Village Manager and/or his designee to execute said updated MABAS (Mutua Aid Box Alarm 
System) Agreement, attached hereto as Exhibit 1. 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 106



SECTION 3: Any policy, resolution or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Resolution shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict.  
 
SECTION 4: This Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and 
approval in the manner provided by law.  
 
PASSED THIS 13th day of December, 2022. 

AYES:              

NAYS:              

ABSENT:              

APPROVED THIS 13th day of December, 2022. 

 

       ____________________________________ 
            VILLAGE PRESIDENT 
 

ATTEST: 

 

__________________________________ 
                VILLAGE CLERK  

 
  

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 107



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 108



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 109



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 110



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 111



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 112



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 113



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 114



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 115



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 116



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 117



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 118



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 119



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 120



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 121



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 122



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 123



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 124



STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
    ) SS. 
COUNTY OF COOK  ) 

 
CERTIFICATE 

 
 

I, CLAIRE HENNING, Village Clerk of the Village of Oak Lawn, County of Cook and 

State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of 

Resolution No. _____, “A RESOLUTION APPROVING UPDATED MABAS (MUTUAL 

AID BOX ALARM SYSTEM) AGREEMENT TO MAINTAIN VILLAGE OF OAK 

LAWN’S ABILITY TO RECEIVE MUTUAL AID FOR LARGE EMERGENCY 

INCIDENTS,” which was adopted by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak 

Lawn on this 13th day of December, 2022. 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of  

the Village of Oak Lawn this 13th day of Decmeber, 2022. 
 
 
 
       ____________________________________ 
         CLAIRE HENNING, VILLAGE CLERK  
 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 125



VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Board of Trustees Meeting 

AGENDA ITEM SUBMISSION SHEET 

Meeting Date:  December 13, 2022 Agenda Item Number: 
(Clerk’s Office will insert) 

Department:   Public Works        Staff Contact:    Bill Meyer_________________ 

Staff Contact email/phone number:  wmeyer@oaklawn-il.gov 708-499-7749 

SUMMARY: The Village of Oak Lawn Department of Public Works respectfully requests BOT approval 
to engage Christopher Burke Engineering for Professional Design and Engineering Services for 2023 
Street Program totaling $441,000. The funding of the engineering and construction costs will be from a 
combination of Motor Fuel Tax revenue and proceeds from the 2022 General Obligation Bond offering.  
The 2023 Road Resurfacing Program Phase One was budgeted at $3,330,693.00 with the ability to 
increase to $5.3m in total spending. This Road Resurfacing Program will focus on streets that are in the 
most critical need according to recent Christopher Burke Engineering study. 

BACKGROUND: Each year the Village of Oak Lawn Public Works Department requests BOT approval 
of the upcoming year’s Street Resurfacing Program. The streets targeted for resurfacing have been 
identified by a recent study done by Christopher Burke Engineering which assessed the quality of all Oak 
Lawn Streets.

RECOMMENDATION:  Unanimous Approval                                                                  ______ 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 

VILLAGE MANAGER APPROVAL FOR AGENDA:_____________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 

8 R

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 126

mailto:wmeyer@oaklawn-il.gov


THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Cook County, Illinois 

RESOLUTION 
NO. _____ 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING CHRISTOPHER BURKE ENGINEERING 
FOR 2023 STREET RESURFACING PROGRAM  

TERRY VORDERER, President 
CLAIRE HENNING, Village Clerk 

TIM DESMOND 
ALEX G. OLEJNICZAK 

PAUL MALLO 
JAMIE PEMBROKE 

WILLIAM R. STALKER 
RALPH SOCH 
Board of Trustees 

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak Lawn 
Law Offices of Peterson, Johnson, & Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys 

200 W. Adams, Ste. 2125, Chicago, IL  60606 

Item 8 R

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 127



VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 

Cook County, Illinois 

RESOLUTION NO. ____ 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING CHRISTOPHER BURKE ENGINEERING 
FOR 2023 STREET RESURFACING PROGRAM  

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 
provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Oak Lawn, Cook County, Illinois, with a population in excess of 25,000 is, 
therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article VII, may 
exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, including, 
but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and  

WHEREAS, each year the Village of Oak Lawn Department of Public Works requests 
approval for the upcoming year’s Street Resurfacing Program; and 

WHEREAS, the Village of Oak Lawn Department of Public Works recommends and seeks 
approval to engage Christopher Burke Engineering for Professional Design and Engineering 
Services for the 2023 Street Resurfacing Program totaling $441,000.00; and 

WHEREAS, the funding of the engineering and construction costs will be from a 
combination of Motor Fuel Tax revenue and proceeds from the 2022 General Obligation Bond 
offering; and 

WHEREAS, the 2023 Road Resurfacing Program Phase One was budgeted at 
$3,330,693.00 with the ability to increase to $5.3 million in total spending; and 

WHEREAS, the Road Resurfacing Program will focus on streets that are in the most 
critical need according to recent Christopher Burke Engineering study; and 

WHEREAS, it has been determined by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village 
of Oak Lawn that it is in the best interest of the Village and its residents to approve accepting 
Christopher Burke Engineering for Professional Design and Engineering Services for the 2023 
Street Resurfacing Program totaling $441,000.00; and      

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE VILLAGE PRESIDENT AND 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, 
IN THE EXERCISE OF ITS HOME RULE POWERS, AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1: The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as findings of fact as if 
said recitals were fully set forth herein.  

SECTION 2: The President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak Lawn hereby approve 
accepting Christopher Burke Engineering for the 2023 Resurfacing Street Program totaling 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 128



$441,000.00 and the Village Manager and/or his designee are hereby authorized to execute said 
Agreement, subject to review and revision as to substance and form by the Village Attorney. 

SECTION 4. Any policy, resolution or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Resolution shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

SECTION 5: This Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and 
approval in the manner provided by law.   

PASSED THIS 13th day of December, 2022. 

AYES:  

NAYS:  

ABSENT:  

APPROVED THIS 13th day of December, 2022. 

____________________________________ 
               VILLAGE PRESIDENT 

ATTEST: 

____________________________________ 
VILLAGE CLERK 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 129



STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
) SS. 

COUNTY OF COOK  ) 

CERTIFICATE 

I, CLAIRE HENNING, Village Clerk of the Village of Oak Lawn, County of Cook and 

State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of 

Resolution No. _____, “A RESOLUTION APPROVING CHRISTOPHER BURKE 

ENGINEERING FOR 2023 STREET RESURFACING PROGRAM” which was adopted by 

the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak Lawn on this 13th day of December, 

2022.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Oak Lawn this 13th day of December, 2022. 

____________________________________ 
CLAIRE HENNING, VILLAGE CLERK 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 130



THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Cook County, Illinois 

RESOLUTION 
NO. _____ 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING APPOINTMENT OF DAN GREENE AS A 
REPLACEMENT FOR VERNON ZUMHAGEN ON THE ZONING AND 
PLANNING COMMISSION FOR A TERM EXPIRING IN SEPTEMBER 

OF 2023 

TERRY VORDERER, President 
CLAIRE HENNING, Village Clerk 

TIM DESMOND 
ALEX G. OLEJNICZAK 

PAUL MALLO 
JAMIE PEMBROKE 

WILLIAM R. STALKER 
RALPH SOCH 

Board of Trustees 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak Lawn 
Peterson, Johnson, and Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys 

200 W. Adams, Suite 2125 Chicago, IL  60606 

Item 8 S

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 131



VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Cook County, Illinois 

RESOLUTION NO. ____ 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING APPOINTMENT OF DAN GREENE AS A 
REPLACEMENT FOR VERNON ZUMHAGEN ON THE ZONING AND 
PLANNING COMMISSION FOR A TERM EXPIRING IN SEPTEMBER 

OF 2023 

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 
provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Oak Lawn, Cook County, Illinois, with a population in excess of 25,000 is, 
therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article VII, may 
exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, including, 
but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and  

WHEREAS, pursuant to 2-1-3 of the Oak Lawn Village Code, each Village Trustee shall 
appoint one (1) member from their district to the Zoning and Planning Commission; and  

WHEREAS, the Village Trustee, Paul Mallo from District 3, is seeking to affirm the 
appointment of Dan Greene, as a replacement for Vernon Zumhagen, to fill the vacancy on the 
Zoning and Planning Commission for a term expiring in September of 2023; and 

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak Lawn (“Village”) 
believe and hereby declare that it is in the best interest of the Village and its residents to affirm the 
appointment of Dan Greene to the Zoning and Planning Commission; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE VILLAGE PRESIDENT AND 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, 
IN THE EXERCISE OF ITS HOME RULE POWERS, AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1: The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as findings of fact as if 
said recitals were fully set forth herein.  

SECTION 2: The Village President and Board of Trustees hereby affirm the appointment of Dan 
Greene to the Zoning and Planning Commission, as a replacement for Vernon Zumhagen, to fill 
the vacancy on the Zoning and Planning Commission for a term expiring in September of 2023. 

SECTION 3:  Any policy, resolution or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Resolution shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict.  

SECTION 4:  This Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and 
approval in the manner provided by law.  

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 132



PASSED THIS 13th day of December, 2022. 

AYES:  

NAYS:  

ABSENT:  

PASSED THIS 13th day of December, 2022. 

____________________________________ 
               VILLAGE PRESIDENT 

ATTEST: 

____________________________________ 
VILLAGE CLERK 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 133



STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
) SS. 

COUNTY OF COOK  ) 

CERTIFICATE 

I, CLAIRE HENNING, Village Clerk of the Village of Oak Lawn, County of Cook and 

State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of 

Resolution No. _____,  “A RESOLUTION APPROVING APPOINTMENT OF DAN GREENE 

AS A REPLACEMENT FOR VERNON ZUMHAGEN ON THE ZONING AND PLANNING 

COMMISSION FOR A TERM EXPIRING IN SEPTEMBER OF 2023,” which was adopted by 

the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak Lawn on this 13th day of December, 

2022. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Oak Lawn this 13th day of December, 2022. 

____________________________________ 
     CLAIRE HENNING, VILLAGE CLERK 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 134



VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Board of Trustees Meeting 

AGENDA ITEM SUBMISSION SHEET 

Meeting Date: December 13, 2022___ Agenda Item Number: 
(Clerk’s Office will insert) 

Department: Public Works 
Staff Contact:  Jerry Dillon / Bill Meyer 
Staff Contact email/phone number:  jdillon@oaklawn-il.gov 708-499-7881 

SUMMARY  
Village Management is seeking approval to accept the bid of Smitty’s Tree Services Inc. to provide Tree 
Pruning and Tree Removal on behalf of the Village of Oak Lawn for the 2023.   For this Bid Process we 
only received one official bid.  Smitty’s provided this service in 2022 and in previous years.  They deliver 
quality service and the Public Work’s team works well with them.  Their total Bid for 2023 was $445,035 
with tree pruning at $244,710 and tree removal at $200,325 (assuming 165 trees removed through 2023).  
The Bid also includes hourly cost of $1,358 if Smitty’s services are required for emergency storm clean 
up.  

RECOMMENDATION 
Village Management recommends to accept Smitty’s Bid to provide Tree Pruning and Removal services 
for 2023.  Village Management believes we may be able to negotiate a lower price for tree removal.  
However we need the Board to accept the Bid first, then we can discuss with Smitty’s on reducing their 
tree removal bid price.    

8 T

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 135

mailto:jdillon@oaklawn-il.gov


THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Cook County, Illinois 

RESOLUTION 
NO. _____ 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING TREE PRUNING AND REMOVAL  SERVICES FOR 
THE YEAR 2023 FOR THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, 

BY SMITTY’S TREE SERVICES, INC. 

TERRY VORDERER, President 
CLAIRE HENNING, Village Clerk 

TIM DESMOND 
ALEX G. OLEJNICZAK 

PAUL MALLO 
JAMIE PEMBROKE 

WILLIAM R. STALKER 
RALPH SOCH 

Board of Trustees 
______________________________________________________________________________

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak Lawn 
Law Offices of Peterson, Johnson, & Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys 

200 W. Adams, Ste. 2125, Chicago, IL  60606 

Item 8 T

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 136



VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Cook County, Illinois 

RESOLUTION NO. ____ 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING TREE PRUNING AND REMOVAL  SERVICES FOR 
THE YEAR 2023 FOR THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, 

BY SMITTY’S TREE SERVICES, INC. 

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 
provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Oak Lawn, Cook County, Illinois, with a population in excess of 25,000 is, 
therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article VII, may 
exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, including, 
but not limited to, the power to enter into contracts for services; and  

WHEREAS, the Village of Oak Lawn (“Village”) requires tree pruning and removal 
services within the Village; and 

WHEREAS, the Village previously solicited bids for these services, and the only bidder 
for tree pruning and removal services was Smitty’s Tree Services, Inc. (“Smitty’s).  See Exhibit 1, 
the Bid Proposal from Smitty’s for tree services, attached hereto; and  

WHEREAS, Smitty’s has provided tree services to the Village in 2022 and previous years, 
and has delivered quality service to the Village; and  

WHEREAS, Smitty’s total Bid Proposal for tree pruning and removal services was 
$445,035,  with tree pruning costs of $244,710 and tree removal costs of $200,325 (assuming 165 
trees removed through 2023).  The Bid Proposal also includes hourly cost of $1,358 if Smitty’s is 
required to perform emergency storm clean up; and  

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak Lawn believe and 
hereby declare that it is in the best interest of the Village and its residents to approve the Bid 
Proposal from Smitty’s, at a cost not to exceed $445,035 for tree pruning and removal for 2023. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE VILLAGE PRESIDENT AND 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, 
IN THE EXERCISE OF ITS HOME RULE POWERS, AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1: The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as findings of fact as if 
said recitals were fully set forth herein.  

SECTION 2:  The President and Board of Trustees hereby approve the Bid Proposal from 
Smitty’s Tree Services for tree pruning and removal in 2023, at a cost not to exceed $445,035.  

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 137



SECTION 3: The Village President, Village Manager and/or their designees are authorized to 
accept the Exhibit 1 Bid Proposal by Smitty’s Tree Services, Inc., attached hereto, to enter into 
any ancillary agreement documents between Smitty’s and the Village, and to do any and all things 
deemed necessary to effect the execution and performance of this Bid Proposal as shall be desirable 
to carry out the intent and purposes of this Resolution, including the preambles to this Resolution. 

SECTION 4: Any policy, resolution or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Resolution shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict.  

SECTION 5:  This Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and 
approval in the manner provided by law.  

PASSED THIS ___ day of December, 2022. 

AYES:  

NAYS:  

ABSENT:  

APPROVED THIS ___ day of December, 2022. 

____________________________________ 
               VILLAGE PRESIDENT 

ATTEST: 

____________________________________ 
VILLAGE CLERK 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 138



EXHIBIT 1 

Smitty’s Bid Proposal 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 139



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 140



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 141



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 142



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 143



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 144



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 145



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 146



STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 

) SS. 
COUNTY OF COOK  ) 

CERTIFICATE 

I, CLAIRE HENNING, Village Clerk of the Village of Oak Lawn, County of Cook and 

State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of 

Resolution No. _____, “A RESOLUTION APPROVING TREE PRUNING AND REMOVAL 

SERVICES FOR THE YEAR 2023 FOR THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN, COOK COUNTY, 

ILLINOIS, BY SMITTY’S TREE SERVICES, INC.” which was adopted by the President and 

Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak Lawn on this ___ day of December, 2022.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Oak Lawn this ___ day of December, 2022. 

____________________________________ 
     CLAIRE HENNING, VILLAGE CLERK 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 147



VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Board of Trustees Meeting 

AGENDA ITEM SUBMISSION SHEET 

Meeting Date: December 13, 2022___ Agenda Item Number: 
(Clerk’s Office will insert) 

Department: Finance/HR 
Staff Contact:  Jerry Dillon / Adam Metz / Janie Vulich / Vern Zumhagen 
Staff Contact email/phone number:  jdillon@oaklawn-il.gov 708-499-7881 

SUMMARY  
Village Management is seeking your approval of a Revised Investment Policy for the Village’s 457b Plan.  
As you may recall on the August 9, 2022 the BOT agreed to engage a new 457b Investment Advisor, the 
457 Consulting Group.  With this change, Village Management, working with the 457 Consulting Group, 
updated the Village’s 457b Investment Policy.  The previous 457b Investment Policy was last updated in 
August of 2018.  The revised 457b Investment Policy keeps most of the language in the objectives, roles 
and responsibilities, investment selection process, and monitoring the same.  For the Investment Review 
Scoreboard process changes were made to align with the 457 Consulting Group’s investment rating 
criteria.  If approved, the updated 457b Investment Policy will replace the document from August 2018. 

RECOMMENDATION 
Village Management recommends the Board approve this updated Investment Policy. 

8 U

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 148

mailto:jdillon@oaklawn-il.gov


 
 

THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Cook County, Illinois 

 

 
 

RESOLUTION 
NO. _____  

 

 
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE REVISED 457b INVESTMENT POLICY FOR 
THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 

 

 
 

TERRY VORDERER, President 
CLAIRE HENNING, Village Clerk 

 
TIM DESMOND 

ALEX G. OLEJNICZAK 
PAUL MALLO 

JAMIE PEMBROKE 
WILLIAM R. STALKER 

RALPH SOCH 
Board of Trustees 

______________________________________________________________________________
Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak Lawn 

Law Offices of Peterson, Johnson, & Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys 
200 W. Adams, Ste. 2125, Chicago, IL  60606 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 149



VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Cook County, Illinois 

 
RESOLUTION NO. ____ 

 
A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE REVISED 457b INVESTMENT POLICY FOR 

THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 
 

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 
provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Oak Lawn, Cook County, Illinois, with a population in excess of 25,000 is, 
therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article VII, may 
exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, including, 
but not limited to, the power implement an investment policy; and  
 

WHEREAS, in August of 2022 the Village of Oak Lawn (“Village”) engaged the services 
of 457 Consulting Group as the Village’s 457b Investment Advisor; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Village’s previous 457b Investment Policy was last updated in August of 

2018, and a newly updated Policy is required to align with 457 Consulting Group’s investment 
rating criteria; and   

 
WHEREAS, the revised 457b Investment Policy recommended by 457 Consulting Group 

keeps most of the language in the objectives, roles and responsibilities, investment selection 
process, and monitoring process the same; and 

 
 WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak Lawn believe and 
hereby declare that it is in the best interest of the Village and its residents to approve the updated 
457b Investment Policy attached hereto as Exhibit 1.  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE VILLAGE PRESIDENT AND 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, 
IN THE EXERCISE OF ITS HOME RULE POWERS, AS FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1: The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as findings of fact as if 
said recitals were fully set forth herein.  
 
SECTION 2:  The President and Board of Trustees hereby approve the updated 457b Investment 
Policy attached hereto as Exhibit 1, and to do any and all things deemed necessary to affect the 
execution and performance of this Investment Policy as shall be desirable to carry out the intent 
and purposes of this Resolution, including the preambles to this Resolution. 
 
SECTION 3: Any policy, resolution or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Resolution shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict.  
 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 150



SECTION 4:  This Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and 
approval in the manner provided by law.  
 
PASSED THIS ___ day of December, 2022. 
 
AYES:              
 
NAYS:              
 
ABSENT:              
 
APPROVED THIS ___ day of December, 2022. 
 
 
 
 
     

                    ____________________________________ 
                      VILLAGE PRESIDENT 
 
 

ATTEST: 

 

 
____________________________________ 
                    VILLAGE CLERK 
 
 

  

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 151



EXHIBIT 1 

REVISED 457b INVESTMENT POLICY 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 152



INVESTMENT POLICY STATEMENT 
FOR THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 

 
 
Part I. THE PLAN 
 

The Village of Oak Lawn (the “Employer”) sponsors the Village of Oak Lawn 457(b) Plan (the “Plan”) for 
the benefit of its employees.  The Plan is intended to provide eligible employees with the long-term 
accumulation of retirement savings through contributions to the individual participant accounts within the 
Plan.  
 
The Plan is subject to the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. The plan is not subject to ERISA, 
however will be following ERISA best-practice management.  
 
The Plan makes available to participants a default investment for all contributions, and the Plan intends to 
qualify such default investment as a qualified default investment alternative (“QDIA”). This IPS covers only 
guidance for the prudent selection and monitoring of a QDIA. 
 
This IPS does not cover illiquid assets held by the Plan and/or self-directed brokerage accounts or similar 
arrangements that enable participants to select investments beyond those designated by the Plan.  
Additionally, this IPS is not intended to cover the selection and monitoring of service providers to the Plan. 

The officers, individuals and/or investment committee named in or established under the Plan documents 
as having responsibility for the management of the Plan’s investments are referred to in this IPS as the 
“Plan Fiduciary.”   
 
 
Part II. THE PURPOSE OF THE INVESTMENT POLICY STATEMENT 
 
The Plan Fiduciary has important responsibilities. These responsibilities include: 
 

 Acting solely in the interest of plan participants and their beneficiaries and with the exclusive 
purpose of providing benefits to them; 

 Carrying out their duties prudently; 
 Following the plan documents; 
 Diversifying plan investments; and 
 Paying only reasonable total plan expenses. 

 
This IPS is intended to assist the Plan Fiduciary in making decisions regarding the Plan’s investment 
options in a prudent manner.  To achieve that objective, the IPS outlines the processes for the selection, 
monitoring and evaluation of the investment options in the Plan.  This IPS sets out criteria that may be 
used by the Plan Fiduciary as guidance in making decisions regarding the investment options available 
under the Plan.    
 
Specifically, this IPS describes: 
 

 The Plan’s investment objectives;  
 The roles of those responsible for the Plan’s investments;  
 The investment selection procedures and criteria for the Plan’s investments;   
 The monitoring process for the Plan’s investments; and   
 The procedures for handling investment options that fail to satisfy established objectives.  

 
 
Part III. INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 153



 
The Plan seeks to make available investment options that: 
 

 Provide reasonable returns compared to appropriate peer groups and indices.  
 Provide a broad range of investments so that employees can diversify investments within an 

investment category; and 
 Provide a minimum of three different investment options with differing risk and return 

characteristics. 
 Provide a QDIA as defined under Pension Protection Act (“PPA”) of 2006. 

 
Part IV. ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES WITH RESPECT TO PLAN INVESTMENTS 
 
The Plan Fiduciary is responsible for: 
 

 Establishing and maintaining this IPS;  
 Reviewing this IPS periodically, and making such changes to this IPS as deemed appropriate 

from time to time. 
 Selecting the investment options; 
 Monitoring the performance of the investment options offered by the Plan and making investment 

changes; 
 Hiring and monitoring an investment advisor 
 Hiring and monitoring an investment consultants, if applicable; and 
 Overseeing participant investment education and communication.   

 
The Investment Advisor is responsible for providing investment advice on non-discretionary basis to the 
Plan Fiduciary regarding the selection and monitoring of the Plan’s investment options. The specific 
responsibilities of the investment advisor are set out in the investment advisory agreement. 
 
 
Part V. SELECTION OF INVESTMENTS  
 
The Plan Fiduciary is responsible for the selection of the investment options to be made available to 
participants.  This Part discusses the considerations and guidelines for fulfilling that fiduciary duty. 
 
Selection of Investment Categories 
 
The Plan intends to provide an appropriate range of investment categories that will reasonably span the 
risk-and-return spectrum.  
 
The Plan may also provide a QDIA that complies with the PPA. 
 
Selection of Investment Options 
 
After determining the investment categories to be used, the Plan Fiduciary is responsible for selecting 
specific investment options for each of those categories.  
 
As the Plan Fiduciary engages in the process of selecting the investment options, they may consider 
information from many sources, including information that may be provided by Investment Advisor, the 
Plan’s recordkeeper or other retirement plan investment provider. 
 
Appendix B (entitled “Investment Review Scorecard Process”) is a current description of the methodology 
and Appendix C (entitled “Investment Selection and Monitoring Process) is a current description of the 
process used when selecting and monitoring investments for the plan. 
 
The Plan Fiduciary has reviewed the scoring or rating system methodology and has determined that it is 
appropriate for the Plan and the participants.  

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 154



 
Special Considerations for Selection of Target Date Funds:  In addition to the methodology described in 
the attached Appendix C titled “Investment Selection and Monitoring Process”, the following additional 
factors may be considered for this unique investment category when selecting and monitoring a target 
date retirement fund as an investment option in the Plan.    
 

 The investment objective and strategy of the fund as stated in the funds’ prospectus. Preference 
will be given to a fund that is designed so that a fund’s mix of investments (e.g. among stocks, 
bonds and cash investments) automatically change in a way intended to become more 
conservative as an investor approaches the target date.  The fund should shift over time from a 
mix with more stock investments in the beginning to a mix weighted more toward bonds as the 
target date approaches.   

 The “glide path” for the funds, and the basic assumptions underpinning its construction. These 
assumptions include determining the use of “through” and/or “to” glide paths.  For example, some 
target dates may not reach their most conservative mix until 20 or 30 years after the target date.  
Others may reach the most conservative investment mix at or soon after the target date.  

 The experience and quality of the management team responsible for the overall fund. 
 The overall product cost including the fees charged by the underlying funds and any “wrap” fees 

charged by the overall manager of the fund. 
 
Special Considerations for Selection of a QDIA:  The default investment may be one of the following three 
types of alternatives that are diversified to minimize the risk of large losses and provide long-term growth. 
  

 A product with an investment mix that changes asset allocation and risk based on the employee’s 
age, projected retirement date, or life expectancy (for example, a lifecycle fund); 

 A product with an investment mix that takes into account a group of employees as a whole (for 
example, a balanced fund); and 

 An investment management service that spreads contributions among plan options to provide an 
asset mix that takes into account the individual’s age, projected retirement date, or life 
expectancy (for example, a professionally managed account). 

 
 

A list of the current investment options and their benchmark indices will be maintained separately and 
updated from time to time.  
 
The Plan Fiduciary shall maintain written records of decisions relating to the choice and ongoing 
monitoring of investment options under the Plan.  Such records may be in the form of minutes taken of 
meetings, that note such things, for example, as time and place, attendees, matters discussed, and 
decisions reached. The written records may include documents or materials used by the Plan Fiduciary in 
its decision-making process.   
 
Part VI. INVESTMENT MONITORING  
 
The Plan Fiduciary will regularly monitor the Plan’s investment options and investment categories for 
compliance with the Plan’s investment objective and to assess whether a particular investment option 
continues to be appropriate for participants.  
 
While frequent change is neither expected nor desirable, the process of monitoring investment performance 
relative to specified guidelines is an ongoing process.  Recognizing that short-term fluctuations may cause 
variations in performance, when monitoring investments under the Plan, the Plan Fiduciary evaluates 
investment performance from a long-term perspective.   
 
Monitoring occurs on a regular basis and utilizes the same criteria that were the basis of the investment 
selection decision. It is contemplated, but not mandated, that the Plan Fiduciary will conduct a formal review 
at least quarterly unless agreed upon and/or directed otherwise by the Plan Fiduciary.  Further, the Plan 
Fiduciary seeks to consider any unusual, notable or extraordinary events on a current basis.  

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 155



 
Attached is an Appendix C (entitled “Investment Selection and Monitoring Process”) which is a current 
description of the process that may be used by the Investment Advisor for reviewing whether an investment 
option has underperformed and an explanation of the process, which the Investment Advisor may follow if 
engaged to provide investment monitoring services.  The Plan Fiduciary has reviewed that process and 
has determined that it is suitable and appropriate for the Plan. Therefore, the Plan Fiduciary has adopted 
this process, methodology and scoring system described in Appendices B and C for purposes of monitoring 
the investment options. 
 
If, upon evaluation, an investment option continues to be acceptable, no further action is required. If after 
evaluation of an option, the Plan Fiduciary determines that it should be subject to heightened review, the 
Plan Fiduciary will take steps to further review, study and/or remedy the deficiency. If over a reasonable 
period the provider is unable to resolve the issue, termination may result (see Part VII).  
 
 
VII. INVESTMENT OPTION TERMINATION  
 
The Plan Fiduciary may give consideration to terminating an investment option if: 
 
 

 The option significantly underperforms without a justifiable rationale; 
 The option fails to achieve performance and risk objectives; 
 The option fails to maintain a consistent investment style; and 
 The option has been on the “Watch List” for four consecutive quarters." 
 The option(s) will be mapped to a QDIA due to a plan re-enrollment. 

 
There are no hard and fast rules for an investment option termination. The ultimate decision to retain or 
terminate an investment option cannot be made by a formula.  However, the Plan Fiduciary may consider 
the investment option’s anticipated ability to perform in the future when determining whether to retain an 
investment option.   
 
In addition to those above, other factors may include manager turnover, legal or regulatory proceedings, or 
material change to investment processes. Of course, the Plan Fiduciary also may remove any investment 
option at any time and for whatever reason they deem appropriate, including a determination that the 
investment is no longer suitable for the Participants.   
 
For an investment option to be terminated, one of the following approaches may be taken: 
 

 Remove and replace (map assets) to an alternative investment option.  
 Freeze the investment option, but add a competing investment option for new contributions.  
 Remove the investment option and do not provide a replacement investment option.  

  
Replacement of a terminated option would follow the criteria outlined in Part V, Selection of Investments. 
 
The guidelines in this IPS, and in this Part VII, are to assist, but not bind, the Plan Fiduciary. In that regard, 
the Plan Fiduciary should exercise discretion and considered judgment in the termination and replacement 
process. It is the intention of the Plan Fiduciary to maintain written records of decisions relating to the 
decision of retaining or terminating an investment option.   
 
 
Part VIII. COORDINATION WITH THE PLAN DOCUMENT 
 
If any term or condition of this IPS conflicts with the Plan, the terms and conditions of the Plan shall 
control. 
 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 156



The Plan Fiduciary has reviewed the IPS and agrees that the IPS accurately reflects the intent of the Plan 
Fiduciary with regard to the range of investments, objectives and criteria for selection, and evaluation of 
investment options within the Plan. 
 
 
 
 
Date adopted:  __________________ 
 
Adopted by Plan Fiduciary: 
 
 
Print Name:_____________________________ Sign Name:_____________________________ 
 
 
Print Name:_____________________________ Sign Name:_____________________________ 
 
 
Print Name:_____________________________ Sign Name:_____________________________ 
 

  

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 157



 
APPENDIX A 

INVESTMENT CATEGORIES 
 

Large Cap Value 
Large Cap Value portfolios invest primarily in large market capitalization U.S. companies that have relatively 
low prices given higher anticipated valuations or are growing more slowly than other Large Cap stocks. 
Stocks in the top 70% of the capitalization of the U.S. equity market are defined as Large Cap. Value is 
defined based on low valuations (low price ratios and high dividend yields) and slow growth (low growth 
rates for earnings, sales, book value, and cash flow). 
 
Large Cap Blend (Core) 
Large Cap Blend portfolios are fairly representative of the overall U.S. stock market in size, growth rates, 
and price. Stocks in the top 70% of the capitalization of the U.S. equity market are defined as Large Cap. 
The blend style is assigned to portfolios where neither growth nor value characteristics predominate. These 
portfolios tend to invest across the spectrum of U.S. industries, and owing to their broad exposure, the 
portfolios’ returns are often similar to those of the S&P 500 Index. 
 
Large Cap Growth 
Large Cap Growth portfolios invest primarily in large market capitalization U.S. companies whose earnings 
are projected to grow faster than other Large Cap companies. Stocks in the top 70% of the capitalization 
of the U.S. equity market are defined as Large Cap. Growth is defined based on fast growth (high growth 
rates for earnings, sales, book value, and cash flow) and high valuations (high price ratios and low dividend 
yields). Most of these portfolios focus on companies in rapidly expanding industries. 
 
Mid Cap Value 
Some Mid Cap Value portfolios focus on medium-size companies while others land here because they own 
a mix of small-, mid-, and Large Cap stocks. In general, they look for U.S. stocks that have relatively low 
prices given higher anticipated valuations or are growing more slowly than the market. The U.S. Mid Cap 
range for market capitalization typically falls between $1 billion-$8 billion and represents 20% of the total 
capitalization of the U.S. equity market. Value is defined based on low valuations (low price ratios and high 
dividend yields) and slow growth (low growth rates for earnings, sales, book value, and cash flow). 
 
Mid Cap Blend (Core) 
The typical Mid Cap Blend portfolio invests in U.S. stocks of various sizes and styles, giving it a middle-of-
the road profile. Most shy away from high-priced growth stocks, but aren’t so price-conscious that they land 
in value territory. The U.S. Mid Cap range for market capitalization typically falls between $1 billion-$8 billion 
and represents 20% of the total capitalization of the U.S. equity market. The blend style is assigned to 
portfolios where neither growth nor value characteristics predominate. 
 
Mid Cap Growth 
Some Mid Cap Value portfolios invest in stocks of all sizes, thus leading to a Mid Cap profile, but others 
focus on midsize companies. Mid Cap Growth portfolios target U.S. firms that are projected to grow faster 
than other Mid Cap companies, therefore commanding relatively higher prices. The U.S. Mid Cap range for 
market capitalization typically falls between $1 billion-$8 billion and represents 20% of the total 
capitalization of the U.S. equity market. Growth is defined based on fast growth (high growth rates for 
earnings, sales, book value, and cash flow) and high valuations (high price ratios and low dividend yields). 
 
Small Cap Value 
Small Cap Value portfolios invest in small market capitalization U.S. companies with valuations and growth 
rates below other Small Cap peers. Stocks in the bottom 10% of the capitalization of the U.S. equity market 
are defined as Small Cap. Value is defined based on low valuations (low price ratios and high dividend 
yields) and slow growth (low growth rates for earnings, sales, book value, and cash flow). 
 
Small Cap Blend (Core) 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 158



Small Cap Blend portfolios favor U.S. firms at the smaller end of the market-capitalization range. Some aim 
to own an array of value and growth stocks while others employ a discipline that leads to holdings with 
valuations and growth rates close to the Small Cap averages. Stocks in the bottom 10% of the capitalization 
of the U.S. equity market are defined as Small Cap. The blend style is assigned to portfolios where neither 
growth nor value characteristics predominate. 
 
Small Cap Growth 
Small Cap Growth portfolios focus on faster-growing companies whose shares are at the lower end of the 
market capitalization range. These portfolios tend to favor companies in up-and-coming industries or young 
firms in their early growth stages. Because these businesses are fast-growing and often richly valued, their 
stocks tend to be volatile. Stocks in the bottom 10% of the capitalization of the U.S. equity market are 
defined as Small Cap. Growth is defined based on fast growth (high growth rates for earnings, sales, book 
value, and cash flow) and high valuations (high price ratios and low dividend yields). 
 
Conservative Allocation 
Conservative allocation portfolios seek to provide both capital appreciation and income by investing in three 
major areas: stocks, bonds, and cash. These portfolios tend to hold smaller positions in stocks than 
moderate allocation portfolios. These portfolios typically have 20% to 50% of assets in equities and 50% to 
80% of assets in fixed income and cash. 
 
Moderate Allocation 
Moderate allocation portfolios seek to provide both capital appreciation and income by investing in three 
major areas: stocks, bonds, and cash. These portfolios tend to hold larger positions in stocks than 
conservative allocation portfolios. These portfolios typically have 50% to 70% of assets in equities and the 
remainder in fixed income and cash. 
 
Aggressive Allocation 
Aggressive allocation portfolios seek to provide capital appreciation by investing in three major areas: 
stocks, bonds, and cash. These portfolios tend to hold larger position in stocks than conservative allocation 
portfolios. These portfolios typically have 75% to 95% of assets in equities and the remainder in fixed 
income and cash. 
 
World Allocation 
World allocation portfolios seek to provide both capital appreciation and income by investing in three major 
areas: stocks, bonds, and cash. While these portfolios do explore the whole world, most of them focus on 
the U.S., Canada, Japan, and the larger markets in Europe. It is rare for such portfolios to invest more than 
10% of their assets in emerging markets. These portfolios typically have at least 10% of assets in bonds, 
less than 70% of assets in stocks, and at least 40% of assets in non-U.S. stocks or bonds. 
 
Large Foreign Value 
Large Foreign portfolios invest in a variety of large international companies. Most of these portfolios divide 
their assets among a dozen or more developed markets, including Japan, Britain, France, and Germany. 
These portfolios primarily invest in stocks that have market caps in the top 70% of each economically 
integrated market (such as Europe or Asia ex-Japan). These portfolios typically will have less than 20% of 
assets invested in U.S. stocks. Value is defined based on low valuations (low price ratios and high dividend 
yields) and slow growth (low growth rates for earnings, sales, book value, and cash flow). 
 
Large Foreign Growth 
Large Foreign portfolios invest in a variety of large international companies. Most of these portfolios divide 
their assets among a dozen or more developed markets, including Japan, Britain, France, and Germany. 
These portfolios primarily invest in stocks that have market caps in the top 70% of each economically 
integrated market (such as Europe or Asia ex-Japan). These portfolios typically will have less than 20% of 
assets invested in U.S. stocks. Growth is defined based on fast growth (high growth rates for earnings, 
sales, book value, and cash flow) and high valuations (high price ratios and low dividend yields). Most of 
these portfolios focus on companies in rapidly expanding industries. 
 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 159



Large Foreign Blend 
Large Foreign portfolios invest in a variety of large international companies. Most of these portfolios divide 
their assets among a dozen or more developed markets, including Japan, Britain, France, and Germany. 
These portfolios primarily invest in stocks that have market caps in the top 70% of each economically 
integrated market (such as Europe or Asia ex-Japan). This style is assigned to portfolios where neither 
growth nor value characteristics predominate. These portfolios typically will have less than 20% of assets 
invested in U.S. stocks. The blend style is assigned to portfolios where neither growth nor value 
characteristics predominate. 
 
Mid Cap Foreign 
Mid Cap Foreign portfolios invest in international mid-sized companies. The Foreign Mid Cap range for 
market capitalization typically falls between $2 billion-$10 billion. These portfolios typically will have less 
than 20% of assets invested in U.S. stocks. 
 
 
Small Foreign 
Small Foreign portfolios invest in international companies that have smaller market capitalizations. These 
portfolios primarily invest in stocks that fall in the bottom 30% of each economically integrated market (such 
as Europe or Asia ex-Japan). These portfolios typically will have less than 20% of assets invested in U.S. 
stocks. 
 
Large Cap Value Global Stock 
World stock portfolios have few geographical limitations. It is common for these portfolios to invest the 
majority of their assets in the U.S., Europe, and Japan, with the remainder divided among the globe’s 
smaller markets. These portfolios typically have 20%-60% of assets in U.S. stocks. Value is defined based 
on low valuations (low price ratios and high dividend yields) and slow growth (low growth rates for earnings, 
sales, book value, and cash flow). 
 
Large Cap Growth Global Stock 
World stock portfolios have few geographical limitations. It is common for these portfolios to invest the 
majority of their assets in the U.S., Europe, and Japan, with the remainder divided among the globe’s 
smaller markets. These portfolios typically have 20%-60% of assets in U.S. stocks. Growth is defined based 
on fast growth (high growth rates for earnings, sales, book value, and cash flow) and high valuations (high 
price ratios and low dividend yields). Most of these portfolios focus on companies in rapidly expanding 
industries. 
 
Large Cap Blend Global Stock 
World stock portfolios have few geographical limitations. It is common for these portfolios to invest the 
majority of their assets in the U.S., Europe, and Japan, with the remainder divided among the globe’s 
smaller markets. These portfolios typically have 20%-60% of assets in U.S. stocks. The blend style is 
assigned to portfolios where neither growth nor value characteristics predominate. 
 
Diversified Emerging Markets 
Diversified emerging markets portfolios tend to divide their assets among 20 or more nations, although they 
tend to focus on the emerging markets of Asia and Latin America rather than on those of the Middle East, 
Africa, or Europe. These portfolios invest at least 70% of total assets in equities and invest at least 50% of 
stock in emerging markets. 
 
Real Estate 
The funds in this category provide access to the physical commercial real estate markets through 
investments in public real estate securities. Over time, real estate provides diversification benefits, inflation 
protection, income, and growth opportunities. 
 
Ultra Short-Term Bond 
Short-term bond portfolios invest primarily in corporate, mortgage-backed, and other U.S. fixed-income 
issues and have durations of less than one year (or, if duration is unavailable, average effective maturities 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 160



of less than one year). These portfolios are attractive to fairly conservative investors, because they are less 
sensitive to interest rates than portfolios with longer durations. 
 
Short-Term Bond 
Short-term bond portfolios invest primarily in corporate, mortgage-backed, and other U.S. fixed-income 
issues and have durations of one to 3.5 years (or, if duration is unavailable, average effective maturities of 
one to four years). These portfolios are attractive to fairly conservative investors, because they are less 
sensitive to interest rates than portfolios with longer durations. 
 
Short-Term Government Bond 
Short-term bond portfolios invest primarily U.S. fixed-income issues and have durations of one to 3.5 years 
(or, if duration is unavailable, average effective maturities of one to four years). These portfolios are 
attractive to fairly conservative investors, because they are less sensitive to interest rates than portfolios 
with longer durations 
 
Intermediate-Term Bond 
Intermediate-term bond portfolios invest primarily in corporate, mortgage-backed, and other U.S. fixed-
income issues and have durations of 3.5 to six years (or, if duration is unavailable, average effective 
maturities of four to 10 years). These portfolios are less sensitive to interest rates, and therefore less 
volatile, than portfolios that have longer durations. 
 
Intermediate-Term Government Bond 
Intermediate-term bond portfolios invest primarily in U.S. fixed-income issues and have durations of 3.5 to 
six years (or, if duration is unavailable, average effective maturities of four to 10 years). These portfolios 
are less sensitive to interest rates, and therefore less volatile, than portfolios that have longer durations. 
 
Long-Term Bond 
Long-term bond portfolios invest primarily in corporate, mortgage backed, and other U.S. fixed-income 
issues and have durations of more than six years (or, if duration is unavailable, average effective maturities 
greater than 10 years). Due to their long durations, these portfolios are exposed to greater interest rate risk. 
 
Long-Term Government Bond 
Long-term bond portfolios invest primarily in U.S. fixed-income issues and have durations of more than six 
years (or, if duration is unavailable, average effective maturities greater than 10 years). Due to their long 
durations, these portfolios are exposed to greater interest rate risk. 
 
Bank Loan 
Bank-loan portfolios primarily invest in floating-rate bank loans instead of bonds. In exchange for their credit 
risk, these loans offer high interest payments that typically float above a common short-term benchmark 
such as the London interbank offered rate, or LIBOR. 
 
Mortgage-Backed Securities 
Mortgage-backed securities are bonds backed by either residential or commercial mortgages. The Federal 
Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (FHLMC) and the Federal National Mortgage Association (FNMA) are 
government-sponsored enterprises (GSE) that issue these debt obligations. Securities issued by these 
entities are not guaranteed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. government. Government National 
Mortgage Association (GNMA) securities, which also issue MBS, are guaranteed by the full faith and credit 
of the U.S. government. MBS are issued through these agencies to finance housing market growth and 
facilitate liquidity in home mortgages. 
 
Intermediate/Long High Yield Bond 
High-yield bond portfolios concentrate on lower-quality bonds, which are riskier than those issued by high 
quality companies. These portfolios generally offer higher yields than other types of portfolios, but they are 
also more vulnerable to economic and credit risk. These portfolios primarily invest in U.S. high-income debt 
securities where at least 65% or more of bond assets are not rated or are rated by a major agency such as 
Standard & Poor’s or Moody’s at the level of BB (considered speculative for taxable bonds) and below. 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 161



 
Intermediate/Long Foreign Bond 
Foreign bond portfolios typically invest 40% or more of their assets in foreign bonds. Some world bond 
portfolios follow a conservative approach, favoring high-quality bonds from developed markets. Others are 
more adventurous, and own some lower-quality bonds from developed or emerging markets. Some 
portfolios invest exclusively outside the U.S., while others regularly invest in both U.S. and non-U.S. bonds. 
 
Eclectic Fixed Income 
Eclectic Fixed Income (Multi-Sector Bond) bond portfolios seek income by diversifying their assets among 
several fixed-income sectors, usually U.S. government obligations, U.S. corporate bonds, foreign bonds, 
and high-yield U.S. debt securities. These portfolios typically hold 35% to 65% of bond assets in securities 
that are not rated or are rated by a major agency such as Standard & Poor’s or Moody’s at the level of BB 
(considered speculative for taxable bonds) and below. 
 
Inflation Protected Bonds 
Inflation-protected bond portfolios invest primarily in debt securities that adjust their principal values in line 
with the rate of inflation. These bonds can be issued by any organization, but the U.S. Treasury is currently 
the largest issuer for these types of securities. 
 
Emerging Market Bonds 
Emerging Market Bond portfolios invest primarily in external debt instruments (external meaning foreign 
currency denominated fixed income) in the emerging markets. Emerging Market Debt is primarily issued by 
sovereign issuers and tends to have a lower credit rating than other sovereign debt because of the 
increased economic and political risk. 
 
Target Date 
A diversified fund designed to simplify the asset allocation process for defined contribution plan participants 
over time. The date in each fund’s name represents the approximate retirement year. As a fund’s target 
retirement year approaches, the allocation to underlying assets shifts to a more conservative mix of asset 
classes. 
 
Stable Value 
A Stable Value fund is an investment choice that provides a fixed income alternative to money market 
funds and bond mutual funds. Stable Value Funds seek safety and principle stability primarily through 
investing synthetic Guaranteed Investment Contracts (GICs), fixed-income funds, or capital-preservation 
funds. 
 
Money Market 

A money market fund is an open-end mutual fund which invests only in money markets. These funds 
invest in short term (one day to one year) debt obligations such as Treasury bills, certificates of deposit, 

and commercial paper. The main goal is the preservation of principal, accompanied by modest dividends. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 162



APPENDIX B 
INVESTMENT REVIEW SCORECARD PROCESS 

 
The following generally describes the process the Plan Fiduciary follows in evaluating investment options 
for the Plan. 
 
THE SCORECARD PROCESS 
 
The Investment Review Scorecard is typically based on the last five years of data, utilizing a pass/fail 
system to evaluate 12 criteria.  There is a maximum possible score of 12 points.  Investment Review 
Scorecards are produced for equity, fixed income, target date, and balanced investments.  When reviewing 
Target Date funds, additional factors such as glide path construction, risk of the underlying investment 
categories, and “to” versus “through” strategy should be considered.  Scorecards are not produced for 
money market or stable value investments. The scorecard is derived in part from Modern Portfolio Theory 
concepts. 
 
Quantitative factors represent 10 of the 12 points possible, or 83% of the total score.  Qualitative factors 
represent two of the 12 points possible, or 17% of the total score.   
 
Quantitative factors used in the Investment Review Scorecard include: 

 17% Style factors 
 33% Risk and Risk-Adjusted Return factors 
 33% Investment Performance measures 

 
Qualitative factors represent 17% of the total score.  Qualitative factors used in the Investment Review 
Scorecard include: 

 Fund Expense evaluation  
 Manager Tenure evaluation 

 
 
QUANTITATIVE FACTORS 
 
Investment Style 
 
A fund’s investment style represents 17% of the overall score: 
 

 Style Consistency – (factor not used in Target Date Funds score) – reflects how consistent the 
investment management style has been, based on returns-based style analysis of monthly data 
over the last five years.  The higher the style consistency statistic, the greater variation in 
investment style.  A style consistency statistic that is below the established maximum value will 
be given a favorable mark on the Investment Review Scorecard. 

 R-squared – a statistic that demonstrates whether the investment has shown a reasonably good 
fit of at least 80% to the category benchmark.  Measured using monthly data over a five-year 
span.  

 Sharpe Ratio – (factor used in Target Date Funds score only) – A measure of risk-adjusted 
return. Sharpe Ratio uses Standard Deviation as the risk statistic. Measured using monthly data 
over a five-year span. 
 

Risk and Risk-Adjusted Return Characteristics 
 
The Risk/Return characteristics represent 33% of the overall score: 
 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 163



 Beta – measures systematic risk, or the sensitivity of an investment to movements in its 
benchmark.  It is measured over a three-year and five year period.  A fund with a beta statistic 
that is within an acceptable range will pass this criterion. 

 Information Ratio – a measure of risk-adjusted return and it is defined as excess return divided by 
tracking error to the benchmark index.  A fund with a positive information ratio will earn a passing 
mark. This statistic is measured on a three-year and five-year basis. 

 
 
 
Investment Performance Measurements 
 
A fund’s score in the area of investment performance represents 33% of the overall score: 
 

 Performance versus the Peer Group Median – a fund passes these criteria if its total return is 
superior to the category’s Peer Group median (the 50th percentile) on a one-year, three-year and 
five-year basis. 

 Up/Down Ratio – A fund passes this criterion if it has an Up Capture measure that is not below its 
Down Capture measure. 

 
QUALITATIVE FACTORS 
 
The qualitative aspects of each particular fund represent 17% of the overall score. 
 
A comparison versus the category average is made with given to Operating Expenses and to Portfolio 
Manager Tenure:     
 

 Operating Expenses are compared to the category average expense ratio, as calculated by 
Morningstar.  A favorable mark is earned if the investment’s expenses do not exceed the 
category average expense ratio. 

 Manager Tenure compares the tenure of a given fund’s longest tenured manager to the category 
average as calculated by Morningstar.  A favorable mark is earned if the investment’s longest 
tenure is not less than the category average manager tenure. 

  

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 164



 
APPENDIX C 

INVESTMENT SELECTION AND MONITORING PROCESS 
 

 
INVESTMENT SELECTION PROCESS 
 
The particular investment under consideration should meet the following standards for selection: 
 

 Investment performance should be competitive with the median return for an appropriate, style-
specific benchmark and peer group. 

  
 Specific risk and risk-adjusted return measures should be reviewed by the Plan Fiduciary and be 

within a reasonable range relative to appropriate, style-specific benchmark and peer group. 
 
 It should demonstrate adherence to the stated investment objective, without excess style drift 

over trailing performance periods, for funds in a similar investment category. 
 
 Fees should be competitive compared with similar investments. 
 
 The investment manager should be able to provide portfolio holdings, performance, and other 

relevant information in a timely fashion, with specified frequency. 
 

 The investment, unless it is a passively managed index-based strategy, should not score six or 
fewer points on the 12-point Investment Review Scorecard. 

 
 
INVESTMENT MONITORING PROCESS  
 
Based upon objective criteria as described in Appendix B, each fund will be attributed an overall investment 
score with a maximum of 12 points.  A score of six or fewer points will typically result in the fund being 
placed on a “Watch List.”      
 
The fund can emerge from the “Watch List” by achieving a subsequent score of seven points or higher.  If 
the fund remains on the “Watch List” for four consecutive quarters it will be subject to possible elimination 
from the Plan.   
 
The Plan Fiduciary may adjust the score upward to accommodate for a more stringent watch list threshold. 
 
Of course, the Plan Fiduciary can take other relevant, material facts and circumstances into consideration 
when monitoring investments, whether or not they are on the “Watch List.” 
 
The 12-point due diligence process does not apply to funds with less than 5 years of history (3 years of 
history for Target Date funds).  
 
  
 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 165



 
STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
    ) SS. 
COUNTY OF COOK  ) 
 
 

CERTIFICATE 
 

I, CLAIRE HENNING, Village Clerk of the Village of Oak Lawn, County of Cook and 

State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of 

Resolution No. _____, “A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE REVISED 457b INVESTMENT 

POLICY FOR THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS,” which was 

adopted by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak Lawn on this ___ day of 

December, 2022.  

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of  

the Village of Oak Lawn this ___ day of December, 2022. 

 
 
 
       ____________________________________ 
            CLAIRE HENNING, VILLAGE CLERK  
 
 
  

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 166



VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN  
BOARD OF TRUSTEES MEETING  
AGENDA ITEM SUBMISSION SHEET 

Agenda Item Number:  9 

Staff Contact: Drew Guardi 

Meeting Date: December 13, 2022 

Department: Building & Zoning  

Staff Contact Email:  aguardi@oaklawn-il.gov 

Staff Contact Phone: 708 499 7711  

SUMMARY  
Pet #2022-21, a request to allow frame construction and brick veneer in the exterior wall of a 
new building in a C-2 District @ 11040 South Kilpatrick Avenue, MG19 Salon Suites LTD, 
petitioner, was presented to the Zoning and Planning Board on December 5, 2022. 

BACKGROUND 
The petitioner is planning to build a new building for salon suites.  The petitioner states that they 
will be able to build the new building sooner and for less money if they are able to use frame 
construction with the brick veneer.  The brick veneer will provide the same look as a full 
masonry building.  They state that the lead time for steel trusses for the roof and building 
masonry walls would push the start of the building back up to six months.  The reduced cost 
would allow for lower rents for the tenants.  The Board members were concerned that allowing 
the variation would set a precedent for more buildings to be built using frame construction. 

RECOMMENDATION: 
The Zoning and Planning Board voted 5-1, a no vote by Commissioner Moriarty, to deny 
petition #2022-21 a request to allow frame construction and brick veneer in the exterior wall of a 
new building in a C-2 District @ 11040 South Kilpatrick Avenue. 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 167

mailto:aguardi@oaklawn-il.gov


BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 168



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 169



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 170



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 171



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 172



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 173



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 174



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 175



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 176



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 177



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 178



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 179



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 180



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 181



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 182



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 183



DRAFT 

I. ROLL CALL:  Meeting called to order at 7:30 p.m.

A. Chairman Pro Tem: Mike Moriarty 

B. Members: Steve Adamsheck Mike Moriarty 
Dave Bennett  Rich Piazza  
Tom Duhig 
Bill Lundy 

C. Staff: Kevin Casey, Village Attorney 
Drew Guardi, Engineering Technician 
Deanne Adasiak, Recording Secretary 

II. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:

The Pledge of Allegiance was led by Commissioner Moriarty.

A motion to elect a Chairman Pro Tem was made by Commissioner Lundy. The motion was
seconded by Commissioner Piazza.

Roll call:  Piazza, yes; Moriarty, yes; Lundy, yes; Duhig, yes; Bennett, yes; Adamsheck, yes.

Motion passes:  6-0.

III. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN:

A motion was made by Commissioner Lundy to elect Commissioner Moriarty as Chairman of the
Zoning & Planning Commission.  The motion was seconded by Commissioner Piazza.

Roll call:  Adamsheck, yes; Bennett, yes; Duhig, yes; Lundy, yes; Piazza, yes; Moriarty, yes.

Motion passes:  6-0.

IV. APPROVAL OF PRIOR MEETING MINUTES:

A motion to approve the Regular Meeting Minutes #2022-8 dated November 21, 2022 was made

by Commissioner Duhig and seconded by Commissioner Adamsheck.

Roll call:  Piazza, yes; Moriarty, yes; Lundy, yes; Duhig, yes; Bennett, yes; Adamsheck, yes.

Motion passes:  6-0.

The Oath was administered by Commissioner Moriarty.

V. PETITION:

A.)  Pet. #2022-21 – Request to allow frame construction and brick veneer in the exterior wall
of a new building in a C-2 district @ 11040 South Kilpatrick Avenue, MG19 Salon Suites
Ltd., Petitioner

Mr. Edward McBrearty, 10900 S. Hamlin, Chicago, Illinois

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 184



DRAFT 

The petitioner stated that he is currently constructing a building at 111th & Kedzie that is similar to 
the proposed subject building. The petitioner explained that due to supply chain issues, a delay in 
material is holding up his project(s).  The petitioner explained his request for a variation to allow 
frame construction in the exterior walls with a brick veneer.  He went on to say that because of 
high demand and limited supply, obtaining trusses has been a lengthy process. He commented that 
the majority of plants are experiencing production delays ranging from 8 to 12 months. The 
petitioner said his petition request would greatly simplify the process. He said that he would use a 
wood truss with a roofing membrane on top. 

Commissioner Duhig asked the petitioner to define a salon suite.  The petitioner described his salon 
suite business model. He explained that there would be approximately 20 salon suites, that are 
essentially mini salons that allow beauty professionals from all industries to rent their own small 
salon without the risks, overhead, and expenses that come with owning an entire building.  He 
estimated the suite sizes to be 120 to 250 square feet. 

Commissioner Duhig voiced concerns about parking. He believes that with 20 separate suites, there 
may be a parking issue. He mentioned the potential of 20 suite owners plus 20 customers. 
According to the petitioner, he meets the parking ratio required by Village Code. He stated that 
there will be 20 suites and there are 24 parking spaces available.  He said the requirement is one 
parking space per unit. The petitioner added that there is also off street parking available. 

Commissioner Duhig asked the hours of operation.  The petitioner responded that he believes it 
will be 7:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m.  Commissioner Duhig asked the petitioner if he operates any other 
facilities.  The petitioner responded he will be operating a Salon Suites at 111th & Kedzie. 

Commissioner Duhig referenced the renderings and asked the petitioner to explain sheet number 
A0.0.  The petitioner explained that the entrance to the building faces the parking lot and described 
the other elevations.  The petitioner asked if the building is one level.  The petitioner replied yes.  
Commissioner Duhig expressed concern that the building does not have two entrances. He believes 
that there should be two escape routes. Village Attorney Kevin Casey commented and said the 
brick veneer is the main focus right now. He indicated that this building is still subject to Building 
Plan Review and that if the building requires two exits, it will be addressed. 

Commissioner Duhig reiterated his concerns on parking.  Commissioner Moriarty reminded 
Commissioner Duhig that the variance in front of the Board is to allow for frame construction as 
well as brick veneer and that this particular petition does not require a parking variation. 

Commissioner Lundy expressed that he agrees with Commissioner Duhig's parking concerns, 
stating that he, too, believes that parking is an issue. He expressed that this proposed business may 
potentially require 60 parking spaces. Commissioner Lundy went on to say that he is "pro-
business," but he is concerned about parking ratios in our Village Code.  He expressed he does not 
feel it should be one parking space per suite.  Commissioner Lundy said he feels that the Code as it 
relates to parking ratios is wrong. He suggested that the parking ratios in our Village Ordinance be 
reconsidered.   Mr. Guardi said we can follow up on that issue.   

Commissioner Lundy said he knows residential property requires 50% masonry and asked about 
the masonry requirement for commercial buildings.  Mr. Guardi replied and explained that a 
commercial building cannot be frame construction.   

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 185



DRAFT 

 
Commissioner Lundy asked the petitioner what his main reason for requesting the variance was, 
and if it was cost. The petitioner stated that it is about the cost, but it is mostly about the timeframe. 
He stated that he would prefer to begin the project this year rather than next. Commissioner Lundy 
stated that he understands the cost of supply and inflation, but that the main purpose of this 
variation is cost-related. 
 
Commissioner Piazza agreed with Commissioner Lundy that there is a cost advantage but that he 
understands the material timeframe issues. 
 
Commissioner Adamsheck agreed with the cost advantage comments as well. He went on to say 
that other people have projects in Oak Lawn that are moving forward based on Village Code 
requirements and are experiencing the same cost and material issues. The petitioner stated that he is 
not changing the façade and that it will look the same as the renderings whether the material is 
changed or not. Commissioner Adamsheck mentioned to the petitioner a brick restaurant being 
built on 111th Street near the subject property that is moving forward with their project based on 
Village requirements. Commissioner Adamsheck stated that approving the request would set a 
precedent. 
 
The petitioner stated that he is attempting to keep rents reasonable in order to attract business 
owners. He went on to say that it is not only his cost, but also the cost of Cook County taxes, and 
that it all adds up, and that he is trying to make it all work. He stated that he is only attempting to 
offset some of the costs. He reiterated that the building will look the same whether he uses a frame 
or a block construction. He stated that it will not alter the appearance of the building. The petitioner 
expressed that he is hoping to move this project forward. He said rather than waiting 10 months, he 
can begin in the spring.  
 
Commissioner Moriarty asked the petitioner whether he intended to keep the property. Yes, said 
the petitioner. Commissioner Moriarty asked about the veneer bricks and whether they are 
available in sheets. The petitioner stated that it is a standard masonry brick. He commented that he 
would use a regular brick. He mentioned the Walgreens on 111th Street as well as the new strip 
mall he built in 2018. He described it as a block metal roof. Commissioner Moriarty asked the 
petitioner if it was taking too long to get the metal trusses in order to do a metal roof. Yes, said the 
petitioner. Commissioner Moriarty asked how the veneer brick is secured to the plywood. The 
petitioner replied with mortar. He stated once more that it will not change the appearance of the 
building and that it will be the same as if done in block. Commissioner Moriarty asked how long 
the building would take to construct. The petitioner responded after about 16 months. He stated that 
he is building on 111th Street and that it took him four months to get a response from the truss 
company, and another two months for them to make a decision, and that he had to use a channel 
instead of a truss. 
 
Commissioner Lundy asked the petitioner about why he did not begin with the masonry first. The 
petitioner responded that any truss company is out for 10 months. Commissioner Lundy asked the 
petitioner about the cost difference. The petitioner stated that he did not price the trusses in this 
way, but he anticipates a price range of $30,000 to $40,000. According to Commissioner Lundy, it 
does not appear to be a large number. He said he expected the petitioner to say a few hundred 
thousand. Other material, according to the petitioner, should be considered. Commissioner Lundy 
asked about the full cost. The petitioner estimated the cost to be $150,000.  Commissioner Lundy’s 
reply was, "So now we're at $150,000". Commissioner Lundy expressed concern that we will set a 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 186



DRAFT 

precedent for someone else coming before this Board with a similar request. He went on to say that 
is his main concern. Commissioner Lundy said that he is unsure what future developers will build 
if we set such a precedent. Commissioner Lundy asked once more whether the Code requires a 
house to be 50/50 masonry and a commercial building to be all masonry. Mr. Guardi responded 
that is correct and said that it also cannot be brick veneer. Mr. Guardi said that it must be block 
brick. Commissioner Lundy asked the petitioner if he was aware of the subject Code requirement. 
The petitioner explained that he was only made aware of this when he began work in Oak Lawn. 
Commissioner Lundy then asked the petitioner if he was aware that he would need to request a 
special variance. The petitioner said yes, and he hoped to go this route so that he could begin 
construction sooner. Commissioner Lundy said he believes everyone in construction is going 
through the same supply chain process. The petitioner stated that he is an Oak Lawn resident and 
that his children attend St. Catherine School. He said he is familiar with development in Oak Lawn 
and hoped to contribute to it with his proposed project. 
 
Commissioner Bennett stated that he believes there is some confusion. He explained that with 50% 
of masonry it is almost always brick veneer. He said it is not as if homes are all made with concrete 
blocks and brick veneer rather most homes are made with frame and brick veneer. According to 
Commissioner Bennett, all of the homes in Oak Lawn are brick veneer. Commissioner Lundy 
responded that this is a commercial property, not a house. 
 
The petitioner asked if he could build with metal studs. Mr. Guardi replied no and indicated that 
any type of frame construction, whether metal or wood, is not permitted. The petitioner mentioned 
the new Taco Bell building, saying they used block on the inside and siding on the outside, and he 
wants to do the opposite, using brick on the outside and frame on the inside.  The petitioner stated 
that his overall cost includes the factor of finding tenants, and that the higher the rent, the more 
difficult it is to find tenants. Everything, he stated, adds up. Commissioner Moriarty stated that the 
petitioner is more motivated by time, which increases the cost. 
 
A motion was made by Commissioner Moriarty to approve Pet. #2022-21 – Request to allow frame 
construction and brick veneer in the exterior wall of a new building in a C-2 district @ 11040 
South Kilpatrick Avenue, MG19 Salon Suites Ltd., Petitioner. 
 
Motion fails for lack of a second. 
 
A motion was made by Commissioner Lundy to deny Pet. #2022-21 – Request to allow frame 
construction and brick veneer in the exterior wall of a new building in a C-2 district @ 11040 
South Kilpatrick Avenue, MG19 Salon Suites Ltd., Petitioner.  The motion was seconded by 
Commissioner Duhig. 
 
Roll call:  Adamsheck, yes; Bennett, abstain; Duhig, yes; Lundy, yes; Moriarty, no; Piazza, yes. 
 
Motion to approve passes:  4-1-1. 
 

VI. OTHER BUSINESS: 
 
A.) Chairman:  
 

 
B.) Members: 
 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 187



DRAFT 

 Commissioner Lundy spoke about the parking issue. He said you have to consider there can be as 
many as 24 people and more coming in and other people waiting. Commissioner Lundy asked as to 
how we should handle this. Commissioner Lundy said these salon suites are springing up all over 
the place. According to Village Attorney Casey, it is assumed that each unit is operational at the 
same time. He stated that if it were an open floor concept, the parking analysis would change 
because you would be looking at it as a whole rather than each individual having their own space. 
Mr. Casey went on to say that this is most likely an issue of the Code catching up with a business.  
Mr. Casey reminded the Commissioners that this Commission had previously discussed (a few 
times) whether or not we should revamp the parking Ordinance. Mr. Casey is unsure if it is 
necessary. He wondered about the existence of a similar business in Oak Lawn. Deanne mentioned 
a Salon Suites on 95th Street near Central Avenue. She claims there are no parking issues, but she 
believes the tenant turnover rate is high. Mr. Casey asked whether their daily operations are always 
at capacity. Deanne replied, "No." The Village Attorney stated that we should keep an eye on this 
business model and added that it has been appropriately flagged tonight.  He stated that if we have 
a similar business model in the Village and it is not causing a parking problem, we may be 
changing requirements that are not necessary. Commissioner Lundy said there are additional 
parking concerns in relation to doctor offices and other retail square footage. Commissioner Lundy 
said he feels that tonight’s petition should require 40 to 50 parking spaces. 

 
C.) Staff: 

 
Mr. Vern Zumhagen, 9440 Raymond Avenue, Oak Lawn, Illinois 
 
Mr. Zumhagen believes tonight’s petition was a matter of fire safety. He stated that while on the 
Commission, he met with Fire Bureau Chief David Wheeler. He explained that Mr. Wheeler 
informed him that if the Fire Department responds to a fire on a frame building, the best course of 
action is to contain the fire because the building will be destroyed. In contrast, in a masonry 
construction building, bricks do not burn, so there is reason to put out the fire because the building 
is not necessarily a total loss. Mr. Zumhagen commented that if similar petitions are filed in the 
future, David Wheeler is more than willing to answer any questions the Commissioners may have. 
Commissioner Lundy asked whether this Board has received a similar petition. Commissioner 
Bennett responded that a similar petition was filed at the Panda Express on 87th Street. Mr. 
Zumhagen stated that that petition had been denied. Mr. Zumhagen also mentioned that the Barrel 
Club had a variance for exterior cosmetic materials. 
 

VII. ADJOURNMENT: 
 

A motion to adjourn was made by Commissioner Duhig and second by Commissioner Adamsheck. 
 
Voice vote:  All in favor, aye. 
 
Motion to adjourn passes. 
 
The meeting adjourned at 8:11 p.m. 
 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 188



THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Cook County, Illinois 

ORDINANCE 
NO. _____ 

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING PETITIONER, MG19 SALONG SUITES,  
LTD, APPEAL OF THE ZONING AND PLANNING 

COMMISSION’S  DENIAL OF THE ALLOWANCE OF FRAME 
CONSTRUCTION AND BRICK VENEER IN THE EXTERIOR WALL OF 

NEW BUILDING IN C-2 DISTRICT LOCATED AT 11040 S. 
KILPATRICK, OAK LAWN, IL AND APPROVAL OF THE REQUESTED 

VARIANCES 

TERRY VORDERER, President 
CLAIRE HENNING, Village Clerk 

TIM DESMOND 
ALEX G. OLEJNICZAK 

PAUL MALLO 
JAMIE PEMBROKE 

WILLIAM R. STALKER 
RALPH SOCH 

Board of Trustees 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak Lawn 
Peterson, Johnson, and Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys 

200 W. Adams, Suite 2125 Chicago, IL  60606 

Item 10

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 189



VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Cook County, Illinois 

 
ORDINANCE NO. _______ 

 
AN ORDINANCE GRANTING PETITIONER, MG19 SALONG SUITES,  

LTD, APPEAL OF THE ZONING AND PLANNING 
COMMISSION’S  DENIAL OF THE ALLOWANCE OF FRAME 

CONSTRUCTION AND BRICK VENEER IN THE EXTERIOR WALL OF 
NEW BUILDING IN C-2 DISTRICT LOCATED AT 11040 S. 

KILPATRICK, OAK LAWN, IL AND APPROVAL OF THE REQUESTED 
VARIANCES 

 
WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 

provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Oak Lawn, Cook County, Illinois, with a population in excess of 25,000 is, 
therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article VII, may 
exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, including, 
but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and  
 
  WHEREAS, on December 5, 2022, the Zoning and Planning Commission conducted a 
public meeting on Petition # A-2022-21, relative to a request submitted by MG19 Salon Suite, Ltd 
(“Petitioner”), requesting a variance from Section 4-3-3B of the Village Zoning Ordinance to allow 
a frame construction and brick veneer in the exterior wall of a new building in the C-2 District 
located at 11040 South Kilpatrick Avenue, Oak Lawn, Illinois; and  
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 4-3-3B of the Village Zoning Ordinance exterior walls of 
all buildings and accessory buildings in a commercial district shall be constructed of materials 
other than exposed concrete, concrete/cinder block (except that solid nonflat face concrete block 
shall be allowed), wood, sheet metal or brick veneer, and, in addition, said exterior walls shall not 
be of frame construction; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Zoning and Planning Commission voted (5-1) to deny Petition # A-2022-
21 requesting the allowance of frame construction and brick veneer in the exterior wall of a new 
building in the C-2 District located at 11040 South Kilpatrick Avenue, Oak Lawn, Illinois; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Petitioner filed a timely appeal with the Board of Trustees to overturn the 
denial of his petition and to grant the variance; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Trustees have reviewed the draft minutes from the hearing and 
the basis for the Zoning and Planning Commission’s denial consistent with the obligation under 
2-1-3 of the Village of Oak Lawn Code; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Petitioner is seeking approval to appeal the Zoning and Planning 
Commission’s denial of Petition # A-2022-21 and approval of a variance to allow frame 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 190



construction and brick veneer to the exterior wall of a new building in a C-2 District located at 
11040 South Kilpatrick Avenue; and  
 

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak Lawn believe and 
hereby declare that it is in the best interest of the Village and its residents to grant Petitioner’s 
appeal and grant Petitioner’s variance to allow for frame construction and brick veneer to the 
exterior wall of a new building in a C-2 District located at 11040 South Kilpatrick Avenue; and  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE VILLAGE PRESIDENT AND 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, 
IN THE EXERCISE OF ITS HOME RULE POWERS, AS FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1: The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as findings of fact as if 
said recitals were fully set forth herein.  
 
SECTION 2: That Petitioner’s appeal of the Zoning and Planning Commission’s denial of 
Petition # A-2022-21 is hereby granted. 
 
SECTION 3: That Petitioner’s variance to allow for a frame construction and brick veneer to the 
exterior wall of a new building in a C-2 District located at 11040 South Kilpatrick Avenue is 
hereby granted. 
 
SECTION 3: Any policy, resolution or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Ordinance shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 
 
SECTION 3: This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and 
approval in the manner provided by law.  
 
PASSED THIS 13th day of December, 2022. 
 
AYES:              
 
NAYS:              
 
ABSENT:              
 
APPROVED THIS 13th day of December, 2022. 
 
 
     
                        ____________________________________ 
                      VILLAGE PRESIDENT 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 191



____________________________________ 
                    VILLAGE CLERK 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 192



STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
    ) SS. 
COUNTY OF COOK  ) 
 
 

CERTIFICATE 
 

 I, CLAIRE HENNING, Village Clerk of the Village of Oak Lawn, County of Cook and 

State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of Ordinance 

No. _____, “AN ORDINANCE GRANTING PETITIONER, MG19 SALONG SUITES, 

LTD, APPEAL OF THE ZONING AND PLANNING COMMISSION’S  DENIAL OF THE 

ALLOWANCE OF FRAME CONSTRUCTION AND BRICK VENEER IN THE 

EXTERIOR WALL OF NEW BUILDING IN C-2 DISTRICT LOCATED AT 11040 S. 

KILPATRICK, OAK LAWN, IL AND APPROVAL OF THE REQUESTED 

VARIANCES,” which was adopted by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak 

Lawn on this 13th day of December, 2022. 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of  

the Village of Oak Lawn this 13th day of December, 2022. 

 
       ____________________________________ 
            CLAIRE HENNING, VILLAGE CLERK  
 
 

 
 

 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 193



12 A

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 194



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 195



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 196



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 197



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 198



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 199



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 200



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 201



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 202



THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Cook County, Illinois 

ORDINANCE 
NO. _____  

AN ORDINANCE CHANGING OWNERSHIP OF CLASS “AV” LIQUOR LICENSE 
ISSUED BY THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN AND DECREASE AND INCREASE OF 

CLASS “AV” LIQUOR LICENSES ISSUED BY THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
 (Arena Amusements, LLC, d/b/a Arena Lanes located at 4700 W. 103rd St.,  

Oak Lawn, IL)  

TERRY VORDERER, President 
CLAIRE HENNING, Village Clerk 

TIM DESMOND 
ALEX G. OLEJNICZAK 

PAUL MALLO 
JAMIE PEMBROKE 

WILLIAM R. STALKER 
RALPH SOCH 

Board of Trustees 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak Lawn 
Peterson, Johnson, and Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys 

200 W. Adams, Suite 2125 Chicago, IL  60606 

Item 12 B

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 203



VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Cook County, Illinois 

 
ORDINANCE NO.     

 
AN ORDINANCE CHANGING OWNERSHIP OF CLASS “AV” LIQUOR LICENSE 

ISSUED BY THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN AND DECREASE AND INCREASE OF 
CLASS “AV” LIQUOR LICENSES ISSUED BY THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 

 (Arena Amusements, LLC, d/b/a Arena Lanes located at 4700 W. 103rd St.,  
Oak Lawn, IL)  

 
WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 

provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Oak Lawn, Cook County, Illinois, with a population in excess of 25,000 is, 
therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article VII, may 
exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, including, 
but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and 

 
WHEREAS, on November 22, 2022, the Liquor Commission of the Village of Oak Lawn 

considered a request by Arena Amusements, LLC, to issue a Class “AV” liquor license to the new 
owner of the establishment and the Liquor Commission voted unanimously to recommend 
approval of said request to the President and the Board of Trustees; and 

 
WHEREAS, Petitioner, William J. Brennan IV, purchased the existing establishment from 

previous ownership requiring a decrease in the Class “AV” liquor license; and 
 
WHEREAS, Petitioner, desires to take over ownership from the current owner and own 

and operate the bowling center with tavern and lounge and video gaming, which requires a Class 
“AV” liquor license; and  

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Title 3, Chapter 3, Section 8 of the Village Code, liquor licenses 

may be authorized by the President and Board of Trustees, and the number of liquor licenses 
authorized to be issued for each license class shall be kept on record in the office of the Village 
Clerk; and 
 

WHEREAS, Mr. Brennan and his family have been in the bowling center business for 
many years and is looking to own and operate Arena Amusements, LLC d/b/a Arena Lanes; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Class “AV” liquor license will decrease from seven (7) to six (6) as Arena 
Bowlarama, Inc. will no longer require the liquor license; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Class “AV” liquor license will increase from six (6) to seven (7) for the 

license classification to be issued to Arena Amusements, LLC d/b/a Arena Lanes c/o William J. 
Brennan IV located at 4700 W. 103rd Street, Oak Lawn, IL; and 

 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 204



WHEREAS, the Liquor Advisory Board unanimously approved a Class “AV” liquor 
license to Arena Amusements, LLC d/b/a Arena Lanes located at 4700 W. 103rd Street, Oak Lawn, 
IL; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Village President and Board of Trustees believe and hereby declare that 

it is in the best interests of the Village to both increase and decrease the number of Class “AV” 
liquor licenses authorized to be issued and approve the change of ownership; and  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE VILLAGE PRESIDENT AND 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, 
IN THE EXERCISE OF ITS HOME RULE POWERS, AS FOLLOWS: 

 
SECTION 1:  The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as findings of fact as if 
said recitals were fully set forth herein. 
 
SECTION 2:  Pursuant to Title 3, Chapter 3, Section 8 of the Oak Lawn Village Code, the number 
of Class “AV” licenses that can be issued by the Village shall be and is hereby decreased from 
seven (7) to six (6) to release Arena Bowlarama, Inc. from the license classification [this decrease 
in the number of Class “AV” liquor licenses reflects the availability of one less Class “AV” liquor 
license due to the sale of Arena Bowlarama, Inc.]. 
 
SECTION 3: Pursuant to Title 3, Chapter 3, Section 8 of the Oak Lawn Village Code, the number 
of Class “AV” licenses that can be issued by the Village shall be and is hereby increased from six 
(6) to seven (7) to issue a license classification to Arena Amusements, LLC [this increase in the 
number of Class “AV” licenses reflects the availability of one additional Class “AV” liquor license 
to be issued to Arena Amusements, LLC d/b/a Arena Lanes c/o William J. Brennan IV located at 
4700 W. 103rd Street, Oak Lawn, IL]. 
 
SECTION 4:  The Village Clerk shall be and is hereby directed to amend the record on file in the 
Village Clerk's Office to reflect the increase effectuated by this Ordinance. 
 
SECTION 5:  Any policy, resolution or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Ordinance shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 
 
SECTION 6: This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and 
approval in the manner provided by law.  
 
PASSED THIS this 13th day of December, 2022. 
 
AYES:              
 
NAYS:              
 
ABSENT:              
 
APPROVED THIS 13th day of December, 2022. 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 205



 
 

       ___________________________________ 
          VILLAGE PRESIDENT 
 
ATTEST: 

 
 
__________________________________ 
                VILLAGE CLERK 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 206



STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
) SS. 

COUNTY OF COOK  ) 

CERTIFICATE 

I, CLAIRE HENNING, Village Clerk of the Village of Oak Lawn, County of Cook and 

State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of Ordinance 

No. _____, “AN ORDINANCE CHANGING OWNERSHIP OF CLASS “AV” LIQUOR 

LICENSE ISSUED BY THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN AND DECREASE AND 

INCREASE OF CLASS “AV” LIQUOR LICENSES ISSUED BY THE VILLAGE OF OAK 

LAWN (Arena Amusements, LLC, d/b/a Arena Lanes located at 4700 W. 103rd St., Oak 

Lawn, IL)” which was adopted by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak Lawn 

on this 13th day of December, 2022.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Oak Lawn this 13th day of December, 2022. 

________________________________________ 
        CLAIRE HENNING, VILLAGE CLERK 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 207



12 C

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 208



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 209



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 210



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 211



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 212



THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Cook County, Illinois 

ORDINANCE 
NO. _____  

AN ORDINANCE CHANGING OWNERSHIP OF A TOBACCO LICENSE ISSUED BY 
THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 

(Good Luck Jerry d/b/a Famous Tobacco – 9600 S. Cicero Avenue, Oak Lawn, IL) 

TERRY VORDERER, President 
CLAIRE HENNING, Village Clerk 

TIM DESMOND 
ALEX G. OLEJNICZAK 

PAUL MALLO 
JAMIE PEMBROKE 

WILLIAM R. STALKER 
RALPH SOCH 

Board of Trustees 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak Lawn 
Law Offices of Peterson, Johnson, & Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys 

200 W. Adams, Suite 2125, Chicago, IL  60606 

Item 12 D

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 213



VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Cook County, Illinois 

 
ORDINANCE NO.     

 
 
AN ORDINANCE CHANGING OWNERSHIP OF A TOBACCO LICENSE ISSUED BY 

THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
(Good Luck Jerry d/b/a Famous Tobacco – 9600 S. Cicero Avenue, Oak Lawn, IL) 

 
WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 

provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Oak Lawn, Cook County, Illinois, with a population in excess of 25,000 is, 
therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article VII, may 
exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, including, 
but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and 

 
WHEREAS, on November 22, 2022, the Liquor & Tobacco Licensing Review Board of 

the Village of Oak Lawn considered a request by Good Luck Jerry d/b/a Famous Tobacco to allow 
for a change of ownership and to issue a new tobacco license to the new owner of the 
establishment, and the Liquor & Tobacco Licensing Review Board voted unanimously to 
recommend approval of said request to the President and the Board of Trustees; and 

 
WHEREAS, Petitioner, Sudhikumar Patel, purchased the existing establishment from 

previous ownership requiring a new tobacco license; and  
 
WHEREAS, Petitioner desires to maintain the same operations as the previous owner, 

which requires a tobacco license; and 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Title 3, Chapter 15, Section 15 of the Village Code, tobacco 

licenses may be authorized to be issued by the President and Board of Trustees and on record in 
the office of the Village Clerk; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Village President and Board of Trustees believe and hereby declare that 

it is in the best interests of the Village to grant a tobacco license to Good Luck Jerry, Inc. d/b/a 
Famous Tobacco to be issued due to new ownership; and  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE VILLAGE PRESIDENT AND 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, 
IN THE EXERCISE OF ITS HOME RULE POWERS, AS FOLLOWS: 

 
SECTION 1:  The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as findings of fact as if 
said recitals were fully set forth herein. 
 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 214



SECTION 2:  Pursuant to Title 3, Chapter 15, Section 15 of the Oak Lawn Village Code, a tobacco 
license will be issued by the Village due to the change of ownership of Good Luck Jerry, Inc. d/b/a 
Famous Tobacco located at 9600 S. Cicero Avenue, Oak Lawn IL.  
 
SECTION 3:  The Village Clerk shall be and is hereby directed to amend the record on file in the 
Village Clerk's office to reflect the increase effectuated by this Ordinance. 
 
SECTION 4:   Any policy, resolution or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Ordinance shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 
 
SECTION 5:   This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect after its passage in a manner 
consistent with applicable laws.  
 
 
PASSED THIS 13th day of December, 2022. 
 
AYES:              
 
NAYS:              
 
ABSENT:              
 
APPROVED THIS 13th day of December, 2022. 
 

 

    ______________________________________________________ 
       VILLAGE PRESIDENT 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 

 
 
__________________________________ 
                VILLAGE CLERK 
  

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 215



STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
    ) SS. 
COUNTY OF COOK  ) 
 
 

CERTIFICATE 
 

 I, CLAIRE HENNING, Village Clerk of the Village of Oak Lawn, County of Cook 

and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of 

Ordinance No. _____, “AN ORDINANCE CHANGING OWNERSHIP OF A TOBACCO 

LICENSE ISSUED BY THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN (Good Luck Jerry d/b/a Famous 

Tobacco – 9600 S. Cicero Avenue, Oak Lawn, IL)” which was adopted by the President and 

Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak Lawn on 13th day of December, 2022.  

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Oak Lawn this 13th day of December, 2022. 

 
 

      __________________________________________ 
       CLAIRE HENNING, VILLAGE CLERK 
 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 216



12 E

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 217



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 218



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 219



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 220



BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 221



THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Cook County, Illinois 

ORDINANCE 
NO. _____  

AN ORDINANCE CHANGING OWNERSHIP OF A TOBACCO LICENSE ISSUED BY 
THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 

(Star One Tobacco – 4741 W. 103rd Street, Oak Lawn, IL) 

TERRY VORDERER, President 
CLAIRE HENNING, Village Clerk 

TIM DESMOND 
ALEX G. OLEJNICZAK 

PAUL MALLO 
JAMIE PEMBROKE 

WILLIAM R. STALKER 
RALPH SOCH 

Board of Trustees 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Oak Lawn 
Law Offices of Peterson, Johnson, & Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys 

200 W. Adams, Suite 2125, Chicago, IL  60606 

Item 12 F 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 222



VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
Cook County, Illinois 

 
ORDINANCE NO.     

 
 
AN ORDINANCE CHANGING OWNERSHIP OF A TOBACCO LICENSE ISSUED BY 

THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 
(Star One Tobacco – 4741 W. 103rd Street, Oak Lawn, IL) 

 
WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 

provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Oak Lawn, Cook County, Illinois, with a population in excess of 25,000 is, 
therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article VII, may 
exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, including, 
but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and 

 
WHEREAS, on November 22, 2022, the Liquor & Tobacco Licensing Review Board of 

the Village of Oak Lawn considered a request by Star One Tobacco to allow for a change of 
ownership and to issue a new tobacco license to the new owner of the establishment, and the Liquor 
& Tobacco Licensing Review Board voted unanimously to recommend approval of said request 
to the President and the Board of Trustees; and 

 
WHEREAS, Petitioner, Kefa Assad, purchased the existing establishment from previous 

ownership requiring a new tobacco license; and  
 
WHEREAS, Petitioner desires to maintain the same operations as the previous owner, 

which requires a tobacco license; and 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Title 3, Chapter 15, Section 15 of the Village Code, tobacco 

licenses may be authorized to be issued by the President and Board of Trustees and on record in 
the office of the Village Clerk; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Village President and Board of Trustees believe and hereby declare that 

it is in the best interests of the Village to grant a tobacco license to Star One Tobacco to be issued 
due to new ownership; and  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE VILLAGE PRESIDENT AND 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, 
IN THE EXERCISE OF ITS HOME RULE POWERS, AS FOLLOWS: 

 
SECTION 1:  The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as findings of fact as if 
said recitals were fully set forth herein. 
 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 223



SECTION 2:  Pursuant to Title 3, Chapter 15, Section 15 of the Oak Lawn Village Code, a tobacco 
license will be issued by the Village due to the change of ownership of Star One Tobacco located 
at 4741 W. 103rd Street, Oak Lawn IL.  
 
SECTION 3:  The Village Clerk shall be and is hereby directed to amend the record on file in the 
Village Clerk's office to reflect the increase effectuated by this Ordinance. 
 
SECTION 4:   Any policy, resolution or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Ordinance shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 
 
SECTION 5:   This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect after its passage in a manner 
consistent with applicable laws.  
 
 
PASSED THIS 13th day of December, 2022. 
 
AYES:              
 
NAYS:              
 
ABSENT:              
 
APPROVED THIS 13th day of December, 2022. 
 

 

    ______________________________________________________ 
       VILLAGE PRESIDENT 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 

 
 
__________________________________ 
                VILLAGE CLERK 
  

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 224



STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
    ) SS. 
COUNTY OF COOK  ) 
 
 

CERTIFICATE 
 

 I, CLAIRE HENNING, Village Clerk of the Village of Oak Lawn, County of Cook 

and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of 

Ordinance No. _____, “AN ORDINANCE CHANGING OWNERSHIP OF A TOBACCO 

LICENSE ISSUED BY THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN (Star One Tobacco – 4741 W. 

103rd Street, Oak Lawn, IL)” which was adopted by the President and Board of Trustees of the 

Village of Oak Lawn on 13th day of December, 2022.  

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Oak Lawn this 13th day of December, 2022. 

 
 

      __________________________________________ 
       CLAIRE HENNING, VILLAGE CLERK 
 

BOT Regular Meeting Packet #2022-22 (Dec 13) 225


	ADP4455.tmp
	THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN
	Cook County, Illinois
	ORDINANCE
	NO. _____




	ADPD397.tmp
	THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN
	Cook County, Illinois
	ORDINANCE
	NO. _____




	ADPC2DF.tmp
	THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN
	Cook County, Illinois
	ORDINANCE
	NO. _____




	ADPBB1E.tmp
	THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN
	Cook County, Illinois
	ORDINANCE
	NO. _____




	ADPA551.tmp
	THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN
	Cook County, Illinois
	ORDINANCE
	NO. _____




	ADP7F98.tmp
	THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN
	Cook County, Illinois
	ORDINANCE
	NO.




	Ordinance for 2022 Tax Levy for FY23 Budget (Final).pdf
	Ordinance for 2022 Tax Levy for FY23 Budget (Memo) 1 of 2
	Ordinance for 2022 Tax Levy for FY23 Budget (Schedules) 2 of 2

	Abatement Ordinance for 2022 Tax Levy (Final).pdf
	Abatement Ordinance for 2022 Tax Levy (Memo) 1 of 3
	Abatement Ordinance for 2022 Tax Levy (Schedules) 2 of 3
	Abatement Ordinance for 2022 Tax Levy (Schedules) 3 of 3

	Fiscal Year 2023 Budget Ordinance (Final).pdf
	Fiscal Year 2023 Budget Ordinance (Memo) 1 of 2
	Fiscal Year 2023 Budget Ordinance (Schedules) 2 of 2

	ADP409F.tmp
	THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN
	Cook County, Illinois


	ADPAAA3.tmp
	THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN
	Cook County, Illinois
	RESOLUTION
	NO. _____




	ADP52DC.tmp
	THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN
	Cook County, Illinois
	ORDINANCE
	NO. _____




	ADPCCD2.tmp
	THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN
	Cook County, Illinois
	ORDINANCE
	NO. _____




	ADP7271.tmp
	THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN
	Cook County, Illinois
	ORDINANCE
	NO. _____




	ADPCE76.tmp
	AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE 9 CHAPTER 4 ARTICLE B ENTITLED “RATES AND CHARGES” OF THE OAK LAWN VILLAGE CODE
	ORDINANCE NO.
	9-4B-3: SEWER RATES AND CHARGES

	ADP3D85.tmp
	THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN
	Cook County, Illinois
	RESOLUTION
	NO. _____




	ADP8F06.tmp
	THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN
	Cook County, Illinois
	RESOLUTION
	NO. _____




	ADP4228.tmp
	THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN
	Cook County, Illinois
	ORDINANCE
	NO. _____




	ADP2ADB.tmp
	THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN
	Cook County, Illinois
	ORDINANCE
	NO. ______




	ADPE0D.tmp
	THE VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN
	Cook County, Illinois
	RESOLUTION
	NO. _____




	ADP7390.tmp
	for THe Village of Oak Lawn
	Part I. THE PLAN
	Part II. THE PURPOSE OF THE INVESTMENT POLICY STATEMENT
	Part IV. ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES WITH RESPECT TO PLAN INVESTMENTS
	Part V. SELECTION OF INVESTMENTS
	Selection of Investment Categories
	Selection of Investment Options

	Part VI. INVESTMENT MONITORING
	Part VIII. COORDINATION WITH THE PLAN DOCUMENT
	QUANTITATIVE FACTORS
	Investment Style
	Risk and Risk-Adjusted Return Characteristics



	Meeting Date: 12/6/22            
	Agenda Item Number: 8 Q
	Department: Fire Department
	Staff Contact: Fire Chief Zackary Riddle
	Staff Contact emailphone number 1: zriddle@oaklawn-il.gov or 708.658.8380                         
	Staff Contact emailphone number 2: 
	SUMMARY 1:  Request BOT to approve updated MABAS Agreement, Ordinance and Resolution.                      
	SUMMARY 2: Background:                                                                                                                   
	SUMMARY 3: In October, 2022, the MABAS Executive board has approved a new MABAS agreement going into effect        
	SUMMARY 4: January 1st, 2023 at 12:01 am CST.  The Village of Oak Lawn is requested to approve the new agreement,               
	BACKGROUND 1: resolution and ordinance so that we may continue to receive Mutual Aid from neighboring and regional  
	BACKGROUND 2:  departments when needed for larger incidents which exceed the resources of the Village of Oak Lawn                     
	BACKGROUND 3:  Fire Department.  The new agreement includes automatic aid and mutual aid for fires, EMS calls,              
	BACKGROUND 4:   hazardous material, technical rescue other emergencies, man-made and natural disasters through                   
	BACKGROUND 5:  prearranged mutual aid and dispatch agreements.                                                                                         
	BACKGROUND 6:                         
	RECOMMENDATION 1: Requesting Board of Trustees approval of new 2023 MABAS Agreement, 
	RECOMMENDATION 2: ordinance and resolution to maintain Village of Oak Lawn's ability to receive Mutual Aid for large
	RECOMMENDATION 3: Emergency Incidents, Man-made and Natural Disasters.                                                                           


